Condition Assessment and Sewer Inspection (CASI) Methods – Guide Book Tiia Lampola

Translated and modified from Viemäreiden kuntotutkimusopas Vesilaitosyhdistyksen monistesarja nro 50

Helsinki, Finland 2019

Distribution of original: Julkaisun jakelu:

Vesilaitosyhdistys / Finnish Water Utility Association (FIWA) Ratamestarinkatu 7 B 00520 Helsinki, Finland

puh. +358 9 868 9010 sähköposti: vvy@vvy.fi kotisivu www.vvy.fi

ISSN-L 2242-7279 (original, in Finnish) ISSN 2242-7279 (original, in Finnish)

ISBN 978-952-6697-44-4 (original, in Finnish)

Helsinki, Finland 2019

DESCRIPTION SHEET				
Publisher	Finnish Water Utilities Association			
Author	Tiia Lampola, WSP Finland Oy			
	Sakari Kuikka, SewCon Kuikka Oy			
Name and number	Publication series of F	innish Water Uti	lities Association n:o	
of publication series	50 (Vesilaitosyhdistyks	sen monistesarja	a nro 50)	
Subject of publicat- ion	Inspection methods for	r sewer pipes		
Availability	<u>www.vvy.fi</u>			
Abstract	Sewer inspections in F CCTV. Annually, less t inspected, which mear year lifespan for a cert During that period, the pipelines) change cons for breakages or inflow ovation of pipelines is water and sewer netwo certain pipe section is This manual presents inspection (CASI) meth mation will increase bo spection methods for v means of asset manago ods of inspection at the accuracy and best way management actions. The tables of this mani- crucial aspects of the i ter utilities, contractors managerial actions.	Finland are most than 4 % of the t as that there is a ain section of pi condition of the siderably, with n and infiltration less than 0,5 % orks, meaning th as high as 200 t the condition as hods widely use oth the amount a vater utilities, the gement. Also, the right time will h as for renovation ual present the n	ly carried out using total network length is in approximate 25- peline to be inspected. sewers (and other o repairing methods being made. The ren- of the total length of nat the service life of a o 300 years. sessment and sewer d globally. This infor- and variability of in- us, improving the e use of correct meth- nelp to focus on the n, rehabilitation, and most important and ods. This will help wa- cies to better assess	
Key words	Water supply, sewer ir ment	spection metho	ds, asset manage-	
Financing	Finnish Water Utilities	Association		
	ISBN 978-952-6697-44-4 Pages 98	ISSN 2242-7279 Language Finnish	Confidentiality Public	
Distribution	Finnish Water Utilities	Association, ww	w.vvy.fi	
Print and year	Helsinki 2018			

KUVAILULEHTI			
Julkaisija	Suomen Vesilaitosyhdis	stys ry	
Tekijät	Tiia Lampola, WSP Finl	and Oy	
	Sakari Kuikka, SewCon	Kuikka Oy	
Julkaisun nimi	Viemäreiden kuntotutkir	nusopas	
Julkaisusarjan	Vesilaitosyhdistyksen m	nonistesarja nro 5	0
nimi ja numero			
Julkaisun teema	Viemäriverkkojen kunto	tutkimukset omais	suudenhallinnan apuna.
Saatavuus	Julkaisu on saatavissa '	Vesilaitosyhdistyk	sen verkkosivuilta.
Tiivistelmä	Viemäriverkon kuntotuti läpiajettavilla kameroilla totutkimusmäärät suom 4 % verkkojen kokonais verkon tutkiminen kerta- kojen ominaisuudet ehti merkiksi rikkoutumien e riittävästi tietoa. Verkkoj selvästi alle 0,5 % verko misikä on tyypillisesti 20 Tässä oppaassa tuodaa musmenetelmiä, joiden kojen kuntotutkimusmää neeraus- ja kunnossapi sekä saadaan arvokasta suudenhallinnan avuksi Oppaassa on taulukoiss kuntotutkimusmenetelm totutkimustyypin käytön kuntotutkimuksissa. Lisa siin soveltuvia menetelm	kimuksia tehdään a, ns. CCTV-mene alaisilla vesilaitok määrästä. Tämä alleen vie yli 20 vi ivät muuttua hallit hkäisyyn ja vuoto jen saneerauksee oista, mikä merkits 00-300 vuotta. an esille maailmal oikealla valinnalla äriä nykyisestä, sa totoimenpiteet oik a ja luotettavaa tie sa esitetty tärkeim niin liittyvät asiat, so reunaehdot ja so äksi oppaassa on niä.	Suomessa pääasiassa etelmällä. Vuotuiset kun- silla ovat tyypillisesti alle johtaa siihen, että koko uotta. Siinä ajassa verk- semattomasti, eikä esi- vesien hallintaan saada in kohdentuu vuosittain see sitä, verkon uusiutu- la käytettyjä kuntotutki- a saadaan lisättyä verk- aadaan kohdennettua sa- ein ja tehokkaammin etoa vesilaitosten omai- mät ja keskeisimmät sisältäen mm. kunkin kun- vellettavuus verkkojen esitetty erilaisiin tarpei-
Avainsanat	viemäriverkot, kuntotutk	kimukset, omaisuu	Idenhallinta
Rahoittaja/	Suomen Vesilaitosyhdis	stys ry	
toimeksiantaja			
	ISBN	ISSN	
	978-952-6697-44-4	2242-7279	
	Sivuja	Kieli	Luottamuksellisuus
	98	suomi	Julkinen
Julkaisun jakelu	Vesilaitosyhdistys, <u>www</u>	<u>vvy.fi</u>	t.
Painonaikka ia -	Helsinki 2018		
aika			
anta			

BESKRIVNINGSBLAD				
Publicerat av	Finlands Vattenverksförening r.f.			
Författare	Tiia Lampola, WSP Finland Oy Sakari Kuikka, SewCon Kuikka Oy			
Publikationens titel	Guidebok om inspektic	on metoder för a	vlopp nätet	
Publikationsseriens titel och nummer	Vattenverksföreningen	s duplikatserie r	nr 50	
Publikationens tema	Inspektion metoder av ning	avlopp för förva	ltning av vattenförsörj-	
Tillgänglighet	Publikationen finns på	Vattenverksföre	ningens webbsida.	
Sammanfattning	 Avloppsnätet i Finland inspekteras oftast med en CCTV utrustning. Årliga inspektioner av rörledningar i det allmänna nätet är idag mindre än 4 %. Det innebär att rör inspekteras ca. var 25:e år. Under denna tid försämras avloppsnätet avsevärt och sprickor i rören leder till vattenläckage. Förvaltning av avlopps- och vattenledningar är klart mindre än 0,5 %, och betyder att det tar 200 till 300 år för att rör ska bli renoverade. Den här manualen presenterar flera olika rörinspektionsmetoder som används världen över. Med tillräcklig och högklassig information kan man välja den metoden som passar för ett specifikt rör. Med rätt taktik förbättras metoderna för att inspektera avlopps- och vattenledningar. Samtidigt får man mer information och förståelse för förvaltning av vattenförsörjningen. I de tabeller som man kan finna i den här manualen finns de mest viktiga och huvudsakliga metoderna för inspektion av avlopps- och vattenledningar. 			
Nyckelord	avlopp nätet, kondition sörjning	inspektion, förv	altning av vattenför-	
Finansiär/ uppdragsgivare	Finlands Vattenverksförening r.f.			
	<i>ISBN</i> 978-952-6697-44-4 <i>Sidantal</i> 98	ISSN 2242-7279 Språk finska	Konfidentialitet	
Distribution av publikationen	Vattenverksföreningen, <u>www.vvy.fi</u>			
Tryckort och år	Helsingfors 2018			

KURZBESCHREIBUN	KURZBESCHREIBUNG				
Herausgeber	Vereinigung der Finnis	schen Wasserve	rsorgungsbetriebe		
Autoren	Tiia Lampola, WSP Fi Sakari Kuikka, SewCo	nland Oy on Kuikka Ov			
Name und Nummer	Serie von Veröffentlich	hungen der Vere	einigung der Finn-		
der Serie von Veröf-	nischen Wasserversor	raunashetriehe l	Nummer 50 (Vesilaito-		
fentlichungen	sybdistyksen monister	saria nro 50)			
Gegenstand der	Methoden der Insnekt	ion von Abwass	er-Kanälen		
Veröffentlichung					
Vertrieh	MAAAAA MAAA fi	wayay yang fi			
	<u></u>				
Abstrakt	Die Inspektion von Ab meist in Form einer "C niger als 4 % des gesa bedeutet, dass es bis bestimmte Haltung um spanne kann sich der kontrolliert verändern. für Beschädigungen of rend dieser Zeit vorge samtlänge der Wassel pro Jahr saniert, dies I bestimmten Leitung ca Dieses Handbuch bes spektionsmethoden, w setzt werden. Damit w die Zahl also auch die weitert und somit die N tung verbessert. Auch thode die richtige zum Fokus für die bestmög weitere Planungs-Maß Die Kapitel dieses Har und entscheidenden A Hiermit können Wasse und Ingenieur-Büros il	wasser-Kanälen CTV Inspektion amten Kanal-Ne zu 25 Jahren da tersucht wird. W Zustand einer b Auch werden ke der Wasser-Ein- nommen. Wenig r- und Abwasse bedeutet, dass o a. 200 bis 300 Ja chreibt die Zusta velche weltweit ü vird für die Wass Vielfalt der Insp Möglichkeiten zu das Wissen, we richtigen Zeitpu gliche Reparatur Snahmen.	 erfolgt in Finnland ". Pro Jahr werden we- tzes inspiziert. Dies nuern kann, bis eine Zährend dieser Zeit- estimmten Leitung un- einerlei Reparaturen - oder -Austritt wäh- ger als 0,5 % der Ge- er-Leitungen werden die Lebensdauer einer ahre beträgt. andsprüfungen und In- iberwiegend einge- erversorger sowohl bektions-Methoden er- ir Netzwerk-Verwal- elche Inspektions-Me- inkt ist, verbessert den oder Sanierung und iben die wichtigsten ektions-Methoden. nal-Sanierungsfirmen aßnahmen effizienter 		
Osklässel Dessiffe	und wirksamer durchft	ühren.			
Schlussel-Begriffe	vvasserversorgung, In lagenverwaltung	spektion von Ab	wasser-Kanalen, An-		
Finanzierung	Vereinigung der Finnis	schen Wasserve	rsorgungsbetriebe		
	<i>ISBN</i> 978-952-6697-44-4	ISSN 2242-7279			
	Seiten	Sprache	Vertraulichkeit		
	98	Finnisch	Öffentlich		
Vertrieb	Vereinigung der Finnis www.vvy.fi	schen Wasserve	rsorgungsbetriebe,		
Druck	Helsinki 2018				

Contents

Ρ	reface	. 10
1	Introduction	. 11
	1.1 Current situation of sewer inspections	. 11
	1.2 Asset management of water supply networks in Finland and in other parts of the	ne
	World	. 15
	Condition assessment I/I, CSO and SSO control	. 18
	1.3 Causes of pipeline defects	. 19
	1.4 A Need to update guide books	.21
	1.5 Methods of the update project	.23
2	General requirements for sewer inspections	. 24
	2.1 Required initial data	.24
	2.2 Prioritize and focus on a particular part of the network with a certain method	.24
	2.3 Education and training in CASI process	.26
	2.4 THE Big picture of THE CASI process	.27
	2.4.1 Need for CASI	.27
	2.4.2 Determination of the order	.27
	2.4.3 Data transfer and its requirements.	.28
	2.4.4 Pre-screening methods for efficient CASI processes	.28
	2.4.5 Condition assessment and sewer inspection (CASI) methods	.28
	2.4.6 Analysis of results	.28
	2.4.7 Data management (and data transfer)	.28
	2.4.8 Reporting and visualizing the results from CASI	.29
	2 4 9 Utilizing the results from CASI	29
	2.5 Data transfer and data management as a part of CASI	29
	2.6 Pre-cleaning and pre-washing	29
3	Condition assessment and sewer inspection (CASI) methods	33
Ŭ	3.1 Pre-screening methods for CASI	.38
	3.1.1 Data analyses and other computational methods	.38
	3 1 2 CASI with zoom-camera	39
	3 3 CCTV in THE CASI process	41
	Digital CCTV	42
	3.6 Laser scanning and echo-location CASI methods	45
	3 6 1 Laser scanning	45
	3 6 2 Ground penetrating radars	46
	3 6 3 Other methods	49
	3 7 Acoustic CASI methods	49
	3.8 Electrical and electromagnetic CASI methods	51
	3.9 House connections and their inspections	53
4	Other methods linked to pipelines CASI	54
	4 1 Manhole inspection methods (MIM)	54
	4.2 Tunnels and their inspection methods	.55
	4.3 Information available from pumping stations	.56
	4 4 Flow measurements	56
	4.5 Measurements of water quality	56
	4.6 Samples taken from a nine	57
	4.7 Pressure testing smoke testing color testing	57
5	CASI methods in different cases	.58
Ĩ	5.1 Gravity collectors	.58
	5.2 Pressure lines force mains	60
	5.3 General inspection with prescreening methods	.60
	5.4 Reducing I/I in the sewer and stormwater pipelines	.60

5.5 Data collection for hydraulic modelling	60
5.6 Minimum requirements of several CASI methods	61
References	63
Appendix 1	74
Appendix 2	
· + +	

APPENDIX 1	CASI METHODS SUITABLE FOR GRAVITY COLLECTORS
APPENDIX 2	FORCE MAINS AND WATER MAINS, CASI METHODS

PREFACE

The "Condition Assessment and Sewer Inspection (CASI) methods" introduces current approaches that include and expand on the various ways in which to support water utilities for efficiently managing sewer and storm water sewer systems. The CCTV inspection is the most widely used method and their techniques, along with others, are outlined to demonstrate how to make condition assessment and sewer inspections (CASI) more efficient and reliable. New methods are not presented here to replace CCTV inspections but to increase the quantity of inspections and to help to better focus them. Also, with the new methods, it is possible to gain information faster for a better classification of the systems and by doing so, operational information of the systems can be obtained that can then be used, for example, to control and increase a system's capacity issues.

Annually, less than four percent of the sewer system's total length is inspected in Finland, which means that it takes more than 25 years to inspect each pipe once. The cost-benefit ratio is often quite low, since approximately 60 % of inspected pipelines are in good condition. The structural condition of pipes is not observed with CCTV; therefore it would require additional means to inspect them.

This guide pinpoints the effectiveness and quality control of pipeline pre-washing, which is required before the CCTV inspection. If the pre-wash process is inefficient it may increase inspection costs up to four times higher than usual.

The new pipeline inspection methods bring greater value to the asset management process for water utilities. Internationally, much research and development has been made in this field, resulting in new models and ways of inspecting sewer pipelines.

The transfer and management of data are very important features for water utilities as well. Under Finnish law (Water Services Act 119/2001) it is required of water utilities to be aware of, to control and, to manage their data systematically.

Official plans for training as well as for controlling and maintaining lists of competent persons in sewer and storm water system inspections must also be created and managed. This requires more detailed discussions between Finnish organizations, such as the Finnish Water Utilities Association (FIWA), the Ministry of the Environment, and schools, colleges, and universities.

This guide does not require or suggest changes to the CEN-standard and the Finnish guide from which it is based ("Viemäreiden TV-kuvauksen tulkintaohje", *in Finnish*).

FIWA is responsible for keeping the original guide ("Viemäreiden kuntotutkimusopas", *in Finnish*); updated by summoning experts within this field regularly.

1 INTRODUCTION

1.1 CURRENT SITUATION OF SEWER INSPECTIONS

There are approximately 50,000 km of sewers in Finland. The average age of a pipe network varies a lot. For example, in the Helsinki Region Environmental Service Authority's (HSY) area of operation the age of a pipe is approximately 36 years. The majority of sewer networks have been built since the end of WWII, in the 1950s to 1970s. According to the Finnish Water Utilities Association (FIWA), up to 80 to 90 % of water utility capital investment is given to water, sewer, and storm water network pipes (VVY, 2001; Välisalo et al. 2008).

Less than four percent of the total length of water supply pipelines are inspected annually, and renovation/rehabilitation actions even less frequently. The total volume of renovation/rehabilitation has declined from 2014 to 2016 for more than 50 % (Mika Rontu, FIWA, personal communication), which is very alarming. Also, the data from any type of network information systems, including data management, is quite often poor (Välisalo et al. 2008).

Condition assessment and sewer inspections (CASI) should be conducted within the intervals as determined by earlier sewer inspections. The first CASI should be conducted, and data saved, at the point of commissioning and acceptance. During the process of this guide, over a dozen experts in the field of CASI were interviewed, resulting in many different options for the length of the interval. A German study (Müller, 2007) recommends the first interval after acceptance to be 10 to 20 years. Inspection should also be conducted after the period of guarantee (typically two years in Finland). Inspections conducted at the beginning of the pipe's operation life are essential, since the data and information need initial-condition data (e.g. Ahmadi et al. 2014; Ahmadi et al. 2015). Table 1.1 shows an example of inspection intervals in a newly built pipeline (water, sewer, storm water) from the beginning to the end of its service life. Older pipelines (e.g. built in 1960s or 1970s), which have not been inspected at any time, have their own CASI intervals, which are shown in Table 1.2.

Tables 1.1 and 1.2 can be used to estimate the time intervals between CASI events. Below are also some examples of CASI's intervals. The service life of a pipeline is affected by several aspects, such as the properties of the pipe, soil, traffic, vegetation, a sewer water's quality and quantity, and so on. CASI should be considered as a continuous process with continuous data updates and management.

Table 1.1. N	ew pipe:	sewer ins	pection time	e intervals.

Time stamp, years	Explanation	Significance
0	Inspection of commission-	Initial data of the pipeline's condition. Subse-
	ing and acceptance	quent inspections can be compared to this
		point. Data is saved, documented, and man-
	Increation often the nerical	Aged.
+ 2	of guarantee is done.	(newly built) condition. If this is not the case, reparation is to be made and documented. Data is saved, documented, and managed.
+ 10	The first systematic in- spection.	Data is saved, documented and managed. Analysis based on comparison of the earlier inspections.
Either:	The second systematic in-	Data is saved, documented and managed.
+ 2	spection is made based on	Analysis based on comparison of the earlier
+ 5	the earlier observations.	inspections.
Same as above. Continued until the service life is over.	Further inspections. Data updates, increases, and will be analyzed.	Data is saved, documented and managed. Analysis based on comparison of the earlier inspections.
End of service life.		Data is saved, documented and managed. Analysis based on comparison of the earlier inspections. Data and information is ana- lyzed to improve asset management actions in other pipelines.

Table 1.2. Old pipelines with no prior-inspections .

Time stamp, years	Explanation	Significance
NOW	The first inspection of the	Initial data of the pipeline's condition. The
		point. Data is saved, documented, and ma- naged.
either:	The second systematic in-	Data is saved, documented and managed.
+ 2	spection is made based on	Analysis based on comparison of the earlier
+ 5	the earlier observations.	inspections.
+ 10		
Same as above.	Further inspections. Data	Data is saved, documented and managed.
Continued until	updates, increases, and	Analysis based on comparison of the earlier
the service life is	will be analyzed.	inspections.
over.		
End of service life.		Data is saved, documented and managed.
		Analysis based on comparison of the earlier
		inspections. Data and information is ana-
		lyzed to improve asset management actions
		in other pipelines.

Example 1. Concrete pipe (cylindrical), DN 300 mm, soil not frozen, only a small traffic load. Sewer inspections are conducted at:

- 0 years the point of commissioning and acceptance, initial CASI;
- 2 years after the period of guarantee;
- 12 years systematic CASI data is analyzed and follow-up period is approximated (in this example, no defects were found);
- 22 years, 32 years, 42 years etc., until the end of service life is reached;
- 79 years, end of service life following rehabilitation/renovation with an appropriate method.

Example 2. Concrete pipe (cylindrical), DN 300 mm, soil prone to freeze, mediocre traffic load. Sewer inspections are conducted at:

- 0 years the point of commissioning and acceptance, initial CASI;
- 2 years after the period of guarantee;
- 12 years systematic CASI data is analyzed and follow-up period is approximated (in this example, defects – such as small fractions – were found);
- 17 years (status quo);
- 22 years (small fractions enlarged, also some inflow appeared from joints):
 - the larger defects are repaired, another inspection is made to ensure quality;
- 27 years, 32 years etc., until the end of service life is reached;
- 50 years, end of service life following rehabilitation/renovation with an appropriate method.

Example 3. Concrete pipe (cylindrical), DN 300 mm, soil prone to freeze, mediocre traffic load. Sewer inspections are conducted at:

- 0 years the point of commissioning and acceptance, initial CASI;
- 5 to 10 years systematic CASI data is analyzed and follow-up period is approximated;
- 15 years, 20 years etc., until the end of service life is reached;
- 22 years after the first inspection, end of service life following rehabilitation/renovation with an appropriate method.

CASI methods vary greatly from city to city and from town to town. This pinpoints the need to make stronger guidelines for inspection methods, terminology, condition classification, and rehabilitation/renovation methods. If the network information is high in quantity and it is geographically coded, the affects from a lack of data are minimal (Ahmadi et al. 2014; Ahmadi et al. 2015).

Figure 1.1 illustrates schematic outline of pipeline inspection (European Committee for Standardization, CEN, 2008).



Figure 1.1. Process assessment for pipeline inspections (CEN, 2008).

Asset management and operational management needs at minimum, data from a pipeline's condition, its length, build date, material, and diameter. To assess the life cycle of a pipeline it is essential to obtain information about the installation method and its internal properties (Välisalo et al. 2008; Park & Kim, 2013; Laakso et al. 2015).

CASI for water utilities are made to improve: (i) budgeting and investments; (ii) fulfillment of legislation requirements; (iii) information for clients; (iv) information for critical parts of pipeline networks; (v) control of inflow and infiltration (I/I); (vi) planning process; and (vii) quality initial data for hydraulic modelling and prognoses.

One important factor, which supports the need for appropriate CASI methods, is the debris found in any pipeline. Figure 1.2 illustrates the effective capacity and design capacity of a pipeline (Rowe et al. 2004).



Figure 1.2. Illustration of the effective capacity and design capacity of a pipeline (Rowe et al. 2004).

1.2 ASSET MANAGEMENT OF WATER SUPPLY NETWORKS IN FINLAND AND IN OTHER PARTS OF THE WORLD

Even though water supply networks are an integral part of a city's infrastructure, asset management aspects of the networks have been quite inadequate and or insufficient in Finland (Välisalo et al. 2006). Also, risk assessments (Stone et al. 2002; Ana & Bauwens 2007; Halfawy et al. 2008; Stanić et al. 2012; Välisalo et al. 2013), critical assessments (Laakso et al. 2015) and other asset management, condition management and renovation management actions are scarcely used by Finnish water utilities. Table 1.3 lists key factors in Finnish water utilities' asset management aspects (Vaattovaara & Sipilä, 2005). Often the age and information of CCTV inspection are the only data obtained from sewers, which can result in incomplete information from the pipelines (Fenner, 2000; Stone et al. 2002; Ana & Bauwens 2007).

The age of the pipelines has been found to be an inadequate evaluation in the asset management process (Stone et al. 2002; McKim & Sinha, 1999; Ana & Bauwens 2007; Ana et al. 2009; Anderson et al. 2015). However, the most effective aspects are age, material, length, flow, debris, history of blockages, corrosivity of the soil, quality of the sewage, and height of ground water (Ana et al. 2009).

CCTV inspection alone is not able to produce enough data or enough reliable information of non-visual qualities of a pipeline (Nederlands Normalisatie-instituut 2003; Deutsche Vereinigung für Wasserwirtschaf 2006), such as structural condition or a theoretical life span. This means that often the decisions are made with poor, incomplete information since, in most of the cases only some of the structural information is available (Elachachi et al. 2006). The physical condition of pipelines, including recording, documenting and analyzing the data frequently, is maybe the most important data for asset management in water utility networks (McKim & Sinha, 1999). When a sewer inspection is made frequently and with the appropriate methods, most of the acute problems in the pipelines can be avoided (Kienow & Kienow, 2009).

Water sector and asset management	 Physical capital assets comprise of large volumes, and there is no general information on its current condition. Water sector is mainly in hands of municipalities. Replacement investments have been very low. Water and sewer pipes are over-sized. A significant portion of experts in water sector are retiring soon.
Water sectors chal- lenges and changes	 Water utilities are fewer but their size of operation is bigger. Regional water sector. Fusion of energy and water sector. Privatisation of water utilities. Growing need for renovation and rehabilitation. More regulation in water sector. More requirements for purification efficiency. New concepts and financing.
Globalisation, pros and cons	 Undeveloped domestic market. Research and development too small. Great need for renovation and rehabilitation of assets. Technologic level low in comparison to international companies.
Business and develop- ment of technology	 Business thinking and know-how are needed. Development of new cooperation models. Condition assessment, pipeline inspections, and rehabilitation/renovation technologies must be enhanced. Data management and transfer must be developed further.

Table 1.3 As	sset management i	in Finnish water	sector (Vaattovaara	& Sipilä	2005)
10010 1.0.7	ooot managomont i				, 2000,

The slope (gradient), and especially negative slope (back slope) causes several problems in sewers. Current widely-used visual inspection methods do not necessary produce enough information in this area. A backward sloping section along a pipeline often has more debris or fat, oil, and grease (FOG) compounds. Figure 1.3 illustrates some typical sections of pipelines in sewers (Dirksen et al. 2014).



Figure 1.3. Illustration of three different sewer layouts (Dirksen et al. 2014).

Sewer deterioration models can be put in three main classes (Yang 2004): (i) physical models; (ii) AI models; and (iii) statistical models. Chapter 3.1 describes such models in more detail. Within the water utility sector, a heavier focus is often in risk management and asset management. For example, criticality assessment can be used, and the network can be classified as a whole unit for operational and rehabilitation management actions (Miles et al. 2007; Worthington & Homer, 2007; Kley & Caradot, 2013; Kley et al. 2013; Baah et al. 2015; Laakso et al. 2015).

The most often used sewer deterioration methods are based on network information alongside condition assessment inspections and historical reports. The newest methods use information from AI or self-learning, such as the decision tree method. The decision tree method has been found to be reliable tool for asset management for a medium-sized water utility (Winkler et al. 2018).

Globally, asset management of water supply networks has been under strong development for several years now (AWWA, 2001; Hafskjold et al. 2003). A focus on the needs of asset management has also been studied in Finland (Välisalo et al. 2008), with limited results so far. Figure 1.4 illustrates the socio-economic and environmental consequences from the defects of water supply network.



Figure 1.4. Social and environmental impacts of pipe failures (Ortega & Ross, 2012).

The One-Voice project, made in the US, aims to increase the knowledge of sewer pipelines and networks in order to achieve a better asset management, sufficient information regarding the condition of pipelines, an increase in pipeline owners' awareness, and the processes which cause pipeline deterioration. One-Voice helps all parties in data assessment, data management, collaboration, and condition assessment methods (Lewis et al. 2016).

The European Hydroplan-EU project aims at an increase in awareness of asset management in Europe. In the project, the Hydroplan-EU tool was piloted on a water utility's system (de Gueldre et al. 2007).

In Washington, D.C., a study of sewer condition assessment inspection methods, rehabilitation and renovation was undertaken. The study showed that the level of rehabilitation of sewer networks must be increased to almost double its current level based on a risk assessment evaluation. It was also found that the fewer the data and information for a given network, the worse less-accurate the asset management of pipelines would be (Anderson et al. 2015).

When asset management takes place, important questions to be considered are (Marlow et al. 2007): (i) what are the consequences if the pipeline is damaged? (ii) how much will renovation/rehabilitation cost?; (iii) what are the options?

Table 1.5. The expected life cycle	s of different sewe	r pipe materials, in y	ears (Ander-
son et al. 2015; Kaukonen, 2018)		_	

Material	ÚSA	Finland
Asbestos cement (AC)	125	40-100
Brick (BR)	125	100
Cast Iron (CI)	75-100	up to 150
Concrete (reinforced)	75-100	75-100
Concrete (not-reinforced)	100	75-100
Corrugated steel	50	up to 120
Ductile iron	75-100	up to 150
HDPE	50	50-100
PVC	50	50-100
Steel iron	75-100	100

Data collection, management and usability requires planned actions also from the water utilities (Møller Rokstad et al. 2016). In Table 1.6 are listed the required information of pipelines (and their materials) during the expected life cycle (Stanić et al. 2012).

Table 1.6. The data required of a pipeline during the expected life cycle (Stanić et al. 2012).

	As built - pictures	Soil composi- tion	Condition assess- ment	Observations from field
Location	х	х	х	Х
Backfilling	х	Х		
Funding of pipe	х	Х		
Connections and joints	х		х	
Material	х			
Structural deterioration			х	
Ground water level				Х
Roots in the pipes		Х	х	Х
Traffic load			х	Х

Condition assessment I/I, CSO and SSO control

Inflow and infiltration (I/I) control is important in sewers, which may contain as much as 15 to 80 % of external water. I/I can dilute sewage water causing problems with the treatment processes at waste water treatment plants. The increased amount of sewage also increases pumping needs, resulting in a higher consumption of electricity and requires higher-volume sewer pipelines. Also, the amount of combined or separated sewer overflows (CSO and SSO, respectively) is affected by the amount of I/I in the sewer system (Karpf & Krebs, 2003; Kretschmer et al. 2008).

The I/I in the sewer network may be affected by the age of the pipeline, type of pipeline, level of ground water, location of the pipeline, etc. The methods with which the pipeline is built or inspected might also affect whether I/I is actually occurs or not (Dent et al. 2003).

When I/I is controlled, it is very important to prioritize rehabilitation/renovation and operational management actions (Dutt, 2003).

1.3 CAUSES OF PIPELINE DEFECTS

The defect of sewer systems causes many consequences (Table 1.7, Hahn et al. 2002).

Table 1.7. Summary of knowledge base (Hahn et al. 2002).

		Likelihood of failure					
		-	Overall St	ructural Defects	0		
Consequen	ice of failure		MA	TERIAL DEGRADAT	TION	Overall Operational Defects	
Socio-Economic Impacts	Reconstruction Impacts	STRUCTURAL DEFECTS	Interior corrosion	Exterior corrosion	Erosion	INFILTRATION	OPERATIONAL DEFECTS
Human health	Tunneling	Installation history	Material	Material	Material	Structural defects	Known root problems
Environmental	Resurfacing costs	Material	Wastewater temperature,	Soil acidity	Presence of debris	Soil type	Trees above
Commerce	Access Redundancy	Age	BOD and corrosive	Stray currents in ground	Natural stream	Groundwater levels	line
Traffic	2		chemicals		intake		Known debris
		Soil type	Pipe structure	Exterior coatings	Previous	Previous inspection	problems
		Groundwater levels	Wastewater	Cathodic protection	inspection assessment	assessment	Known overflows
		Surface loads	velocity	Previous inspection			Known surcharging
		Exfiltration	Previous inspection assessment	assessment			Previous
		Previous inspection	ussessment				assessment
		assessment					

Stanić et al. (2012) studied and listed comprehensively, factors in soil affecting and deteriorating the pipelines (Table 1.8). Table 1.9 lists typical defects in sewers (Thomson et al. 2004).

2.4. Ingress of soil	Cause	Information needed on cause	Where to get information
	- improper quality of	1. soil characteristics of	a. from the constructor
2.4.1	backfill	backfill	b. from the measuring
Improper pipe	- lack of supervision	 who and if there was supervised 	a. from the municipality
positioning	- pipes barely connected	1. position of pipes	a. from the constructor b. from the inspection
2.4.2.	- cores material in backfill	1. soil characteristics of backfill	a. from the constructor
refilling/compaction	- lack of supervision	 now it was compacted who and if there was supervised 	a. from the municipality
2.4.2	 improper consolidation of bedding 	1. characteristics of bedding	a. from the constructor
Improper	- improper foundation	1. soil characteristics of foundation	a. from the constructor
oedding/ioundation	- lack of supervision	 who and if there was supervised 	a. from the municipality
19930	 lack of professionalism 	1. as-built report	a. from the constructor
2.4.4.	during construction	2. inspection results	
Wrongly constructed	- lack of supervision	 who and if there was supervised 	a. from the municipality
connections/joints	 improvisation due to local conditions 	1. as-built report 2. inspection results	a. from the constructor
	- un/experienced engineers	1. checking of design	a. inside the design company
2.4.5.		protocol	
Improper choice of	 lack of quality check 	 checking of final report 	a. from the contractor
pipe and joint	 lack of appropriate data 	1. checking the quality of	a. sources of initial data:
type/material		initial data necessary for the design	(e.g. material \rightarrow manufacture)
2.4.6. Weakened	 low strength properties of plastic pipes 	1. deformation of pipes	a. from the inspection (e.g. CCTV)
structural elements	- sever pipe deterioration	 sever cracks, pipe brakes, infiltration 	a. from the inspection (e.g. CCTV)
2.4.7.	- high groundwater table	1. measurement of groundwater table	a. from the measuring (ground water table)
Groundwater table	- aggressive ground water	1. ground water quality	a. from the measuring
2.4.8.	- trees with deep roots	1. type of trees	a. from the local community
Type/position and maintenance of	- trees located close-by the sewer	1. location of trees	a. from the local community
trees in the area	 good soil conditions 	1. soil conditions	a. from the measuring
2.4.9.	- improper traffic load	1. nature and density of the traffic	a. from the municipality
Inappropriate load transfer	 load due to construction around the sewer 	1. if proper measures were taken during construction	a. from the constructor
		2. structure conditions	b. from the inspection

Table 1.8. Classification of the possible causes of ingress of soil and their information requirements (Stanić et al. 2012).

Defect	С	AC	PCCP	CI	S	CL	Br	PVC	HDPE
Roots	х	х	х	х	Х	Х	х		Х
FOG	х	х	х	х		Х	х	Х	Х
Cracks	х	х				Х			
Inner corrosion	х	х	х	х	Х				
Outer corrosion			х	х	Х				
1/1	х	х		х		Х		Х	
I/I of joints	х		х		х				
I/I of house connections				х					Х
Wrong procedure				х				Х	Х
Wrong connection pro-		х		х		Х			
cedure									
Deformation					х			Х	Х
Other	1						2	3	4

Table 1.9. Typical defects of sewer pipes (Thomson et al. 2004).

C = Concrete, AC = Asbestos Cement, PCCP = Pre-stressed Cylindrical Concrete Pipe, Cl = Cast Iron, S = Steel, CL = Clay, Br = Brick, PVC = PVC plastic, HDPE = High-Density PolyEthene, 1 = Seal defect, 2 = Missing bricks, 3 = House Connections, 4 = Pressure testing

1.4 A NEED TO UPDATE GUIDE BOOKS

Three guide books (*in Finnish*), "Viemäreiden ja vesijohtojen TV-kuvauksen teettämisohjeet" (Guidelines to pipeline inspections. VVY, 1998), "Viemäreiden TV-kuvauksen tulkintaohje" (Interpretation of CCTV inspections. VVY, 2005) and "Viemärikaivojen kuntotutkimusohje" (Guidelines for manhole inspections. VVY, 2013), were published in Finland prior to this guide book. These books introduce only some of the methods and tools available for inspections in the sewer condition assessment process. Up-to-date information is therefore needed to improve and increase information and knowledge of CASI methods here in Finland. All the above-mentioned books need updated, more recnt projects to increase their usability in water utilities, cities, towns, and municipalities.

The CCTV method has been used in Finland since the end of 1970s. Previously published guide books are partly outdated and are somewhat narrowly focused. The need to update old guide books has been recognised by water utilities and the FIWA.

This guide presents new methods and tools for sewer (and other water supply pipeline) CASI. These tools allow for a more efficient and real-time CASI approach for water utilities, planners, contractors, municipalities, etc. The Standard SFS-EN 13508-2 describes the interpretation guidelines for CCTV inspections, and this guide book focuses more on describing the different techniques.

Several countries have updated their guide books for sewer pipeline inspection methods, such as Austria (Gangl et al. 2007), Norway (Norske Vann, 2018), USA (Feeney et al. 2009), and Australia (Queensland Government A ja B). In Germany, there are reports published which focus on mathematical deterioration models and coding of observations (defects) (Kley & Caradot, 2013; Kley et al. 2013). All above-mentioned guide books have kept updated knowledge in the field of sewer inspections. Those guide books have been used as references throughout this book.

International literature has lots of studies that analyse the CCTV inspection method: its pros and cons. Many studies have found that manual and visual inspection methods have many limitations and faults that should be settled in order to improve and increase both the quantity and quality of sewer inspections made today. Such limitations include human errors, machine errors and process deficiencies.

German studies (Hüben, 2002; Müller, 2006) found that the sewer inspection process produces highly variable results, despite the level of expertise the operator has. Figure 1.5 illustrates how the results and observations vary on a study in which 307 experts inspected the same pipeline (Müller, 2006). In that study, more than half of the results were at least somewhat different than the "actual" result.



Figure 1.5. Variability of results and observations of 307 experts' inspections (Müller, 2006).

An Austrian study showed that the variability of different companies' results were big, even though the education of operators was similar (Figure 1.6, Gangl et al. 2007). This study showed that parts of the results and observations were insufficient and even wrong, and no company reached the expected quality level of 80 % of inspected pipe-lines.



Figure 1.6. Variability between operator companies in Austria (Gangl et al. 2007).

A condition assessment of sewer pipelines has been under serious study to improve methods and tools for asset management (e.g. Makar, 1999; Allouche & Freure, 2002; Costello et al. 2007). These studies show that there is no single method/bundle of methods that cover all possible physical and chemical problems in sewers. It is very important to notice that there may be needed, several different combinations for CASI in one certain area. This guide book reviews and presents many methods and tools and their combinations for different needs.

Comprehensive knowledge and information is needed for engineers, politicians, etc. to get the best out of CASI along with reliable data, principles of planning, and economical values (Vanier, 2001).

The renewal age in Finnish water utilities varies from hundreds to even thousands of years, and it is highly dependable on tools with which the estimate is calculated (personal information, Mika Rontu, FIWA). This is unsustainable for water supply networks (pipelines) as, even in very optimal conditions a pipeline 200 year of age is only rarely possible.

1.5 METHODS OF THE UPDATE PROJECT

This guide book was financed by ISTT. The original guide book was financed by FIWA's Development Fund, several water utilities, and two operators. The project was conducted from January 1st 2018 to September 30th 2018, and the original publication ("Viemäreiden kuntotutkimusopas" *in* Finnish) was published on December 11th 2018.

A translation of the guide book was carried out by PhD, MSc Tiia Lampola (WSP Finland Oy), the English language was checked by MSc Peter Howett (WSP Finland Oy), and expertise checked by Mr. Jari Kaukonen (ISTT/WSP Finland Oy) and Sakari Kuikka (SewCon Kuikka Oy).

2 GENERAL REQUIREMENTS FOR SEWER INSPEC-TIONS

The quality and quantity of initial data is essential when CASI is undertaken. If either quantity and/or quality is insufficient, it becomes quite difficult to have the comprehensive knowledge for prioritization within the sewer network. However, most of the initial data can still be updated and improved upon, and many different methods are available for that process.

For example, the FME-program (Safe Software Inc.) is very useful for improving and increasing both quantity and quality of the initial data. Many geographic information programs, such as ArcGIS or QGIS, can be used. These programs can also help water utilities to better manage their network information based on the assumptions of other network information, such as the year of mounting, diameters, materials, etc. In HSY, the FME-program is widely used for both data management and to expand sewer systems (Sänkiaho & Lampola, 2018).

2.1 REQUIRED INITIAL DATA

When CASI are about to be made, it is paramount to have enough data and information about the sewer network. It is also important to have such data easily, quickly and efficiently available. Table 2.1 lists information that is needed prior to CASI. Table 2.1 also includes a list of methods to improve the initial data, if needed.

Initial data that has a significant role in sewer inspections	Significance of the data for sewer in- spections	Means to improve the quantity and quality of the initial data
Geographic information	Identify the most critical points of the network. Identify the less critical points of the network.	Digital GIS/NIS system. Using programs such as FME to im- prove and increase the amount of data.
	Identify manholes and other struc- tures within a certain part of the net- work.	Improve and increase the data and information during the condition as- sessment process and sewer in- spection methods.
Pipeline and manhole diameters and materials	Affects directly to the requirements of the method/tool to be used.	The GIS/NIS information is improved along with other processes and works in the water utility's network.
	lines/manholes.	Using programs such as FME to im- prove and increase the data.
	insert the tools for a certain method.	

Table 2.1. Initial data for condition assessment and sewer inspections (CASI).

The GIS/NIS information must be qualified, since it is the most important data for CASI (prioritize, focus, program, etc.), which can be partly used at the inspection project or a separate project.

2.2 PRIORITIZE AND FOCUS ON A PARTICULAR PART OF THE NETWORK WITH A CERTAIN METHOD

Water utilities, the clients of water utilities, municipalities and politicians have different needs for data acquired from a sewage network. The following list contains different methods and means of CASI with regards to the data's purpose, for example, the renovation/rehabilitation process of a water utility's sewer network.

- Separation of a network's overall classification into different classes, factors and prescreening methods:
 - Using such a method requires a whole network to be inspected using certain procedures that attain a comprehensive knowledge of the network.
 - These procedures can include critical assessments, zoom-inspections, data-analyses and other statistical methods. These methods use the GIS/NIS information of a network, and other open source data during the analysis. Other important information may come from a person's memory/understanding, and this knowledge should be gathered as well.
 - The approach requires gathering a lot of fragmented data that would result in a large, somewhat difficult project. However, programs such as FME can be used to help the water utility companies in this phase.
 - The overall classification of a sewage network also yields information about the networks' condition, identifying which parts are in good shape and those that are in an acute need of inspection.
 - It is also faster and cheaper to get lists for more tedious inspection methods. These methods can prioritize and focus on the most defected parts of the sewer network.
- Flow measurements:
 - Flow measurements can be used to inspect I/I in catchments and subcatchments of a sewer network. Measuring instruments can be placed in pumping stations, which gather flow rates over a certain geographical area.
 - Several methods are available for measuring a sewer's flow rate. Measuring methods for drinking water may not be usable for a sewer's flow rate measurement since the medium is somewhat different.
 - Level units are useful for estimating I/I in the sewer network due to raining. If a near-by water main is broken, flow measurement can also be used as a means identifying them.
 - Flow measuring methods for sewers include: magnetic flow meters, ultrasound measurements, measuring weirs, etc. However, the specific features of the sewer water (sewage) may, for example, increase clogging due to high amount of suspended matter and sediment.
- Sewer inspection with drive-through robots:
 - Pre-wash / pre-cleaning is required. Methods for pre-wash / pre-cleaning are presented in Chapter 2.6.
 - Sewer inspections with drive-through robots are quite slow and have many phases, which emphasize the use of the prescreening methods mentioned above. Thus, the slower processes can be focused on the pipelines with more statistical (or observed) defects.
 - These methods are using two different camera techniques: CCTV; which is widely used and, digital; which has increased use throughout this century.
 - Both CCTV and digital methods provide visual observations (of defects). The digital method also results in higher accurately in measurable and comparable observations.
 - With both above-mentioned methods it is very difficult to analyze the structural condition of pipelines.

- Laser scanning:
 - Pre-wash / pre-cleaning is required. Methods for pre-wash / pre-cleaning are presented in Chapter 2.6.
 - Often combined with CCTV or digital techniques, this again involves a drive-through inspection method, where several different tools are available.
 - Results in a 3D-model of the pipelines. Helps to analyze wall thickness, deformations, etc.
- Acoustic methods:
 - Several different types of methods exist based on the acoustic echo of tunnel materials.
 - For example, ground penetrating radar, sonar- and ultrasound methods.
 - Can be used above ground however, some methods need contact with the pipeline.
 - Structural conditions of pipelines are often available as a result.
 - o Constraints on materials, diameters etc. might apply.
- Electrical and magnetic methods:
 - Based on analyzing electric current or magnetic flow.
 - For example, electrical leakage probes, ECT, and RFEC methods.
 - Structural conditions of pipelines are often available as a result.
 - Constraints on materials, diameters etc. might apply.

The above-mentioned methods and tools are presented in more detail in Chapter 3.

2.3 EDUCATION AND TRAINING IN CASI PROCESS

It is very important to update the education and training of all experts in the field of CASI of pipelines. Water utility companies are especially in need of improving their knowledge of available methods, improving asset management, prioritizing renovations/rehabilitations, managing I/I, etc. The contractors which provide those CASI methods need to also keep up-to-date with information about developments in the field. Precleaning or pre-washing, in many cases, is a very important part of CASI: it is very important to acknowledge that the same method might not be adequate for every case.

To comply with the requirements, we suggest that an official party, such as the Ministry of Environment, should keep a register of competent parties and companies. This would ensure that everybody working with CASI is up-to-date with developments and methods used in the field. It will also increase and improve knowledge of asset management for water utility companies.

The course material should be compiled from available material (including this book, previously published Finnish books, other Nordic countries' books, and any other material, which is regarded suitable for the purpose). The material should not be kept static i.e. it should be kept updated. All the mentioned methods and tools need to be well written and explained in detail for each target group of the course so that each can have the best information available for their needs.

Training and courses for the various methods and tools would also need to be organized by the companies providing them. This book does not contain a detailed guide for the methods.

2.4 THE BIG PICTURE OF THE CASI PROCESS

A bigger picture of the CASI process contains several stages, as outlined in Figure 2.1 below.



Figure 2.1. Condition assessment and sewer inspections (CASI) – different phases of the process.

Each of the phases in Figure 2.1 contains a multitude of factors, which affect the efficiency and accuracy of data for the CASI pipelines. This book presents methods and tools to be used throughout all the phases.

2.4.1 Need for CASI

The need for CASI comes typically from water utility companies, municipalities, contractors or clients. The need for such action might be planned (the rehabilitation of a street), or acute (the clogging of a sewer pipeline or the deterioration of a sewer).

2.4.2 Determination of the order

Traditionally in Finnish water utilities, the determination of the CASI order is made manually (by the personnel), which requires many hours of work. If the order is made manually many errors such as copying, may occur. Those errors can also cause challenges later in the data transfer phase.

2.4.3 Data transfer and its requirements

When the two initial phases of CASI are ready, data transfer and management occurs. It is important to get the data transferred easily, safely, and reliably from the water utility company to the contractor. Currently, manuals (printed on paper) or a transfer via a flash memory stick used which are slow and prone to error. Automated data transfer and management are also necessary to improve and ensure safety for the water utility companies as well.

2.4.4 Pre-screening methods for efficient CASI processes

Pre-screening methods that help CASI can be statistical (criticality assessment, other data analysis methods, hydraulic modelling) or physical (zoom-camera inspection from a manhole). All the pre-screening methods provide additional information for slower, and in many cases, more expensive methods.

2.4.5 Condition assessment and sewer inspection (CASI) methods

There are several different approaches to implement CASI for pipelines. It might require a lot of time to compare all the available methods and choose the right ones for the right case. This book presents several of those methods, including Tables, which can help water utilities to choose the right method for their needs.

Traditional CCTV inspection includes the manual operation of a robot camera along with recording the observations of defects, which are then manually reported. This method is quite slow compared to other methods available. However, it is a highly visual method, and it provides good information from the pipelines.

Some CASI methods require pre-work, such as pre-washing, plugging of the pipeline and/or flow control. When a successful condition assessment and sewer inspection is needed, the pre-work stage must also be effective.

Pre-wash of pipelines

Pre-washing of pipelines is often the slowest and most expensive phase of a CASI process. Quality control is often poor or lacking altogether. It is very important to have a reasonable quality control after pre-washing, since CASI can't provide effective results with a poorly washed stage. There are many different types of (jet) cameras that can be used and zoom-cameras via manholes provide a good tool for quality control.

2.4.6 Analysis of results

Manual observations along with manual reporting has been found to be unreliable and prone to error. Instructions and a decent road map for CASI is needed to ensure and improve the results. Newer techniques, such as digital cameras, can also help to provide better results for these processes. An automated analysis of the results will hopefully, soon begin to help significantly during this phase. There are several different approaches along these lines that are currently being carried out in Europe and in the USA.

2.4.7 Data management (and data transfer)

A fast, reliable and easy transfer of data is already possible. However, many of the water utility company's CASI programs are quite poor with these aspects. Typically, in Finland, it takes 1 week to 6 months to transfer the data from an inspection to the water utility company depending on many things, such as manual analysis and manual transfer. This is very unfortunate since accurate, real-time information and data transfer are available.

2.4.8 Reporting and visualizing the results from CASI

There is currently a high demand to standardize both reporting and visualizing the results obtained from CASI. However, this is not covered under the scope of this book. There is not available such a guide book at this moment.

2.4.9 Utilizing the results from CASI

The CASI process provides results of the sewer network for rehabilitation, renovation and management actions. All results obtained from CASI should be in such good quality that they are usable without any further processing.

2.5 DATA TRANSFER AND DATA MANAGEMENT AS A PART OF CASI

In Finland, there are two GIS/NIS systems used by water utility companies, namely Trimble NIS © and KeyAqua ©. Internationally, other systems exist such as DHI © and Esri ©.

Data transfer and data management are very important for the CASI processes. It must be possible to transfer data directly from the field measurements to the GIS/NIS system (and vice versa). The current systems are in great need for interface programs that would allow it to happen. Safety issues and data security must also be addressed.

Currently, by Finnish standards, the implementation and reporting of CASI takes many additional hours of manual labor due to human errors. The GIS/NIS systems should be:

- easy to use when providing the determination of areas;
- easy to select any type of network;
- automatically transfer the data to and from the water utility company and the contractor.

It is possible to develop a fast and dynamic system and program for data transfer and data management. The greatest need comes from the will of the water utility companies; it has already been shown that there is some need, but more is required to improve and advance the matter forward.

2.6 PRE-CLEANING AND PRE-WASHING

Pipelines must be cleaned and or washed prior to robot camera inspections. Before pre-washing, the pipeline's operational condition, as well as the structural integrity, must be evaluated to ensure that the pipeline is in such condition that pre-washing can occur. Often, pre-washing is carried out via jetting which can be harmful to certain types of pipe materials. These pre-inspections can be made for example, with a zoom-camera.

In a normal case, water pressure is in the pump is 80 to 150 bar, and the water jet sprays approximately 200 to 350 l/min. It is essential therefore, to use enough water and ensure that the correct type of nozzle is used.

If the proposed pipeline is highly corroded or structurally brittle, the pre-washing must be made with extra care. In such a case, ice pigging might be more ideal for the precleaning of the pipe.

The type of nozzle must be chosen depending on the goal of the pre-washing/-cleaning. Sediment removal requires a different type of nozzle than fat, oil, and grease (FOG) or roots.

Table 2.2 lists parameters in washing/cleaning of the pipes.

Pressure side					
Diameter of pipe, mm	pressure	amount of wa-	diameter	water	container
	(bar)	ter I/min	of the	m3	
			hose		
			(inches)		
100 - 300	80 - 120	120 - 250	5/8"	3 >	
350 - 600	100 - 150	280 - 380	1" - 1¼"	6 >	
700 - 1000 >	120 - 180	400 - 500 >	11⁄4" - 11⁄2"	8 >	
			(2x1")		
Suction side					
Diameter of pipe, mm	suction	diameter of the	water con-		
	m3/h	hose (inches)	tainer m3		
100 - 500	1800 -	3"	3 >		
	3000				
500 >	3200 >	4" - 5"	6 >	1	

Table 2.2. Parameters for washing/cleaning of pipes.

Figure 2.2. Illustrations of the three types of nozzle.



Circumferential cleaning.



Cleaning of base.



Root cutting.

Nozzle cameras and other cameras for quality control are illustrated in Figure 2.3.







JetCam®Xpection®QuickView®Figure 2.3. Three camera configurations suitable for quality control.

Pre-washing of pipes has been in use for decades (Dinkelacker, 1992; Lorenzen et al. 1996). There are several methods and tools, from which man can choose the right types. Typically, jet nozzles can (Lorenzen et al. 1996):

- remove sedimentation;
- change the quality of sedimentation (which can cause pipe wall corrosion);
- remove sediments that would drift into the environment or water bodies;
- improve operation of a network even beyond the pre-washed pipeline.

Ice-water-slurry and sand-water-slurry are possible methods for cleaning pipelines. These methods are gentler on existing pipelines but also have their limitations.

Pre-screening methods can also be used for locating the parts of a pipeline network that need (pre)washing and/or cleaning. Most of the current cases of (pre)wash-ing/cleaning are based on manual observations and there is no exact way to estimate the whole network's needs. Pre-screening methods are often only used over small areas. These actions must also be enhanced so that water utility companies have better knowledge of their networks (Campbell & Fairfield, 2008).

If pre-washing and cleaning is made with a mechanical scraper, etc. the mechanical stress can deteriorate the pipeline's inner walls, which may increase the effect of corrosion (Lorenzen et al. 1996), cause flooding (Dettmar & Staufer, 2005), and deterioration of a pipeline's flow properties (Cant & Trewq, 1998). Nozzles, water pressure, and other parameters are also affected (Medan et al. 2014; Medan & Ravai Nagy, 2015), most likely causing negative effects to the cleaning process.



Figures 2.4, 2.5, and 2.6 illustrate cameras with nozzles.

Figure 2.4 Envirosight JetScan® camera. https://www.envirosight.com/jetscan.php



Figure 2.5. iPEK nozzle camera. https://www.ipek.at/index.php?id=1001&L=ugsytsvmb



Figure 2.6. KEG nozzle camera. https://keg-pipe.com/en/sighted-nozzle.html

3 CONDITION ASSESSMENT AND SEWER INSPECTION (CASI) METHODS

Several different CASI standards are used around the world. In Finland the standard used is SFS-EN 13508-2. Prior to this book, interviews and discussions with experts from within the Finnish CASI market were carried out. They revealed that there is a clear need for more guidelines on processes for water utility companies. These guidelines would help to avoid unnecessary work and effectively locate the weakest parts of a network. This book is only the beginning of such a large project, as clear guidelines would also need to extend to cover the analyses of observations and provide example figures. Education and courses have also shown the potential and their importance for water utilities, planning agencies, contractors, municipalities etc. Courses are most effective when carried out by peer experts. Education and course needs are discussed in Chapter 2.3.

CASI methods can be classified in many ways. Figure 3.1 illustrates four different classifications.



Figure 3.1. Four classifications of CASI methods. a) Atef, 2010; b) Daher, 2015; c) Kley et al. 2013; d) istt.com.

Table 1 (Appendix 1) lists CASI methods suitable for non-pressurized pipelines. Table 2 (Appendix 2) lists CASI methods suitable for pressurized pipelines (sewers and water mains).

Table 3.1	CASI pricing (\$/m).	Prizes are com	parable for year	2001. (Zhao	and Rajani,
2002).				•	-

CASI method	Prize \$/m	Reference
CCTV	\$2 - \$10 / m	Zhao et al. 2001
CCTV with sonar	\$7 - \$10 / m	Zhao et al. 2001
Sewer diver (human)	\$2 - \$20 / m	Zhao et al. 2001
Manhole inspection	\$100 / manhole	Zhao et al. 2001
Smoke testing	\$1,9 - \$3,8 / m	EPA 1975
Color testing	\$3,1 - \$6,3 / m	EPA 1975
Flood testing	\$3,1 - \$6,3 / m	EPA 1975

Large diameter pipelines have much fewer CASI methods available. Robotics and multi-analytical methods are continuously rising globally (Mirats Tur & Garthwaite, 2010).

Typical visual CASI is undertaken, as illustrated in Figure 3.2 (Dirksen et al. 2013).



Figure 3.2. Flow diagram describing the sewer inspection process (Dirksen et al. 2013).

Although camera technology for CASI methods has improved throughout this century, the CCTV process has usually been carried out in the traditional way, with manual operation and observations (Sinha, 2014).

Up to 30 % of initial CCTV inspections have been shown to "disappear" during the second CCTV inspection phase, without any preparation and/or renovation; this shouldn't be the case (Dirksen et al. 2010). Human errors are highly dependable on an operator's skills, experience in the field, and concentration abilities. Technical errors are usually due to poor camera technology and lack of proper lighting (Chae et al. 2003; Müller & Fischer, 2007). Figure 3.3 illustrates observations from a study made in the Netherlands, showing the error classification of manual work in CASI (Dirksen et al. 2013). Figure 3.4 illustrates error classification in a study which compared experts' analyses of observations (Dirksen et al. 2013).



Figure 3.3. Probability of incorrect coding due to an inspector's examination of the results from the course 'Visual inspection of sewers' in the Netherlands (Dirksen et al. 2013).



Figure 3.4. Percentage of sewers in which the interpretation of the inspection report by 4 to 6 different experts show a difference of at least two points (Dirksen et al. 2013).

Considering how widely used CCTV (with manual observations, interpretations, and analyses) has been used for over the last four decades, only some small steps have been made to enhance the process as a whole. If a pipeline is found to be in poor condition, statistically 80% of observations are correct. False negatives are approximately 20%, and false positives approximately 15%. With these observations, researchers have estimated that a statistical value "pipe in poor condition" is only 68% (Cararot et al. 2018).

Research has suggested various ways to improve and enhance CCTV analyses (Dirksen et al. 2013):

- 1) Classification of CASI observations must be simplified;
- 2) Human errors are possible to avoid if reporting is only made with pictures;
- 3) The client and contractor must develop mutual communication methods, and;

4) Pipelines require many methods and tools to make CASI, which would allow for good evaluations and estimations of structural integrity, for example.

CASI methods have been found to give (only) subjective information of pipelines, despite the operator's expertise. Since the most used CASI methods are quite unreliable and error prone, wrong decisions and choices are possible (McKim & Sinha, 1999; Koo & Ariaratnam, 2006; Müller & Fischer, 2007).

An automated analysis of CASI results would provide better results for: (i) spatial attributes from camera/analyzation; (ii) default recognition, and; (iii) classification of defaults (Müller & Fischer, 2007). Automated analyses have been studied and piloted in many countries (e.g. Yang et al. 2010).

Currently, almost 30 % of Canadian water supply networks are estimated to be in poor or very poor condition (Daher, 2015). Approximately 20 % of German water supply networks will require short-term or medium-term investments soon (Müller & Fischer, 2007). In the USA, annual rehabilitation/renovation investments are estimated to be as high as \$15 billion to achieve a technically and economically reasonable condition of water supply networks (Daher, 2015). Annually in Europe, approximately five billion Euros are used for renovation and rehabilitation (Hafskjold et al. 2003).

CCTV inspections have been shown to result in poor reproducibility due to human errors, fatigue, subjectivity of analysis, and a process' polycyclic nature (Yang et al. 2010; Daher, 2015). A Canadian study (Feeney et al. 2009), showed that there are no standardized methods for the CASI process, which could help reduce the error factors. Similar results were found during project interviews.

The structural condition and hydraulic capacity of a pipeline has been found to be the most sort after 'extra knowledge' of the pipelines. It would help to prioritize and focus pipeline rehabilitation/renovation and condition assessment actions on those that need it the most. This is especially so for concrete pipes that suffer from corrosion and substance decrease due to biochemical corrosion from sulphuric acid and other sulphuric compounds. Visual CASI methods are not adequate methods for estimating the inner geometry of a pipeline and provide only apparent changes (Clemens et al. 2014).

There are several classification systems available. In the US, the NASSCO PACP and SCREAM[™] classification systems were compared, and the comparison is shown in Table 3.2. Both methods are used with CCTV inspections.
Table 3.2. NASSCO PACP vs. SCREAM™. (Martel et al. 2010) NASSCO PACP

Disadvantages
 Standardized codes limit the degree of code customization and adaptations/improvements to coding system as technology evolves. Three separate rating processes provide different condition interpretations for five coding families (see details in Appendix B). Simplistic grading hinders definitive analysis cut-off points or sorting ranges when there are a large number of assets. Scoring process is not integrated with other field inspection techniques. No built-in or automated process that verifies the correct code was entered. Verification must be accomplished by a subsequent quality control review.

SCREAM™

Advantages	Disadvantages
 Flexible code customization to match historical or unique local nomenclature. 	 Access limited through software vendors and consultants; proprietary software.
 Defect codes have a base and maximum score between which the defect is scaled based on extent. 	Comprehensive code list mandates operator training.
 Code scores are specific to most popular pipe materials. 	 Iraming and certification materials need more defect photo documentation. No built-in or automated process to verify
 Rating process produces one condition score for each of four coding groups (see Appendix B). 	that the correct code was entered. Verification must be accomplished by a subsequent quality control review.
 Code system integrates with other inspection techniques. 	 System is not widely used.

As seen in Table 3.2 there are big differences between the different classification methods (van der Steen et al. 2014).

The force mains from a pumping station form a very important group of pipelines in any sewer system. Force mains are often located in critical areas (under a water body, over large distances, etc.), which means that it is very important to have a better understanding of them to help water utility companies, municipalities and environmental agencies. So far in Finland there have not been any systematic CASI campaigns for force mains. Appendix 2 lists methods usable for the force mains and water mains (e.g. Bhaskar Dasari, 2016; Derr, 2010).

Automated analysis for CASI

It has been observed that a visual analysis can be improved and enhanced, if all the observations and analyses are unequivocal, and there is only one class for one type of defect. Classification would also be simplified if picture-only formats were used instead

of text written manually by the operator. An automated analysis of the results would also yield added value in CASI process (van der Steen et al. 2014).

Previously, computer capacity, memory, data transfer and many other techniques have been poor and slow. Nowadays, these are in a better state and several projects have already automated their analysis of CASI results, both in Europe and in North America.

Finnish research produced algorithms for an automated analysis of CASI; possibly the first in the world (Kannala et al. 2008). In HSY (Helsinki Region) there has been further developments with automated analysis for CASI (Lampola et al. 2017). Automation of digital and analogous inspection results have lately been extensively researched. For example in China (Wu et al. 2015); Exeter, UK (<u>http://emps.exeter.ac.uk/engineer-ing/research/cws/news-events/news/title_590136_en.html</u>); Germany (<u>www.esic.cloud</u>); and the USA (Kumar, 2017).

3.1 PRE-SCREENING METHODS FOR CASI

3.1.1 Data analyses and other computational methods

Possibly the most important data recorded about the pipelines during CASI is the structural condition of the pipeline. Sewer deterioration models help water utility companies and other interested parties to plan renovation/rehabilitation and other management procedures. Such models are very useful if they have enough data for calibration, and the model is suitable for the initial data. It has been observed that deterioration models might be difficult to utilize, since the traditional CASI methods yield only indirectly data from the structural condition of pipelines. However, the sewer deterioration models are usable when prioritizing and targeting CASI methods within the network. For example, GompitZ, KanewZ and STATUS are all sewer deterioration models (Figure 3.5; Kley & Caradot, 2013; Rokstad ja Ugarelli, 2015; Caradot et al. 2017).



Figure 3.5. Sewer deterioration models (Kley & Caradot, 2013).

Data management and quality assurance are also very important factors during a sewer network asset management process. Table 3.5 lists several data needed. In addition to those mentioned in the table, the following data is required: (i) pipe form (circular, oval, etc.); (ii) chemical and physical conditions in pipelines and in pumping stations, (iii) flow conditions and variability; (iv) ground water height; (v) traffic load; (vi) age of pipelines; (vii) CSOs and SSOs and; (viii) management procedures of the pipelines (Fenner, 2000).

Eiguro 2 E	Poquiromonto	for a data	managemente	votom (Eannar	2000)
Figure 3.5.	Requirements	iui a uala	manayements	ystern (геппег,	2000).

Requirements	Description
Accuracy	All pipe and channel sizes and other physical attributes are known and the connectivity of the system is confirmed
Completeness	All constructed works are identified with no gaps existing in the pipe and channel networks unless confirmed by field study
Spatially defined	The location of the network should be referenced to the cadastral or property and road base to the nearest meter for presentation of the data in a GIS and for accurate development of hydraulic models
Known system condition	Moves to condition based depreciation rather than straight line depreciation on design life make condition assessment essential
Data transfer	Information must be easily transferred to the format required by modern hydraulic modelling products and GIS software
Asset management	Business decision rules using asset condition (likelihood of failure) and asset criticality (consequences of failure) should be used to define proactive maintenance, inspection or rehabilitation programmes
Maintenance management	The drainage information system should link to a maintenance management system for recording incidents and for recording the nature of field operational work undertaken
Quality Assurance	The procedures for editing existing information or adding in more information need to be covered by sound QA and incorporate security on who can edit the data

Critical assessment is a very effective tool when water supply networks are being classified. This tool categorizes pipelines into critical and non-critical parts that can be used as the initial data during CASI process and asset management. In HSY two cycles of criticality assessment have been used, to help water utility companies prioritize their networks for CASI and for their management procedures. This analysis was made by buffering certain parameters and comparing their spatial data to the spatial data from the sewer and water pipelines. A critical index was used from 1 to 3 (1 = extremely critical, 2 = critical, and 3 = non-critical). Table 3.6 lists the parameters tested (Laakso et al. 2015).

Table 3.6. Water and sewer pipeline critical index. Parameters tested (Laakso et al. 2015).

Water/Sewer and critical index	Parameter tested		
Water mains, critical index 1	Water mains from water treatment plants to water towers and significant		
	pumping stations.		
	Water mains leading to critical consumption points with no alternative		
	route.		
	Critical pipelines obtained from closing scenarios.		
	Water mains under railroads with no protective pipe.		
	Only water main to an area of significant size.		
Water mains, critical index 2	Significant water mains that are not included in critical index 1.		
	Pipeline under a building.		
	Large water main under a significant road.		
	Natural gas pipeline close to water main.		
	Pipeline close to a critical underground facility.		
Sewer, critical index 1	Tunnels.		
	Trunk sewer pipes.		
	Trunk sewer pipes and force mains in significant ground water areas.		
	Sewer pipes close to important water points.		
	Sewer lines under railroads.		
	Force mains with no alternative route.		
Sewer, critical index 2	Trunk sewers that are not included in critical index 1.		
	Sewers located in nature conservation areas.		
	Sewers that are lead proceeding under a water body.		
	Sewer under a building.		
	Sewer close to a protected stream.		
	Sewer close to a beach.		
	Sewer in significant ground water area.		
	Trunk sewer located within a class 3 ground water body.		
	Pipeline close to a critical underground facility.		

3.1.2 CASI with zoom-camera

Zoom-cameras (such as QuickView®) can produce either still pictures or videos from a manhole to pipeline. The zoom-camera method does not require pre-cleaning or -

washing of the pipeline, and shows the operational condition of a pipeline with high accuracy. A zoom-camera is put in the manhole with a rod, and the pipeline is inspected either digitally or analogically with high definition zoom. It is possible to see 80 to 100 m with a zoom-camera. This method is only suitable for inspecting pipeline sections that are above water level (Feeney et al. 2009). For example, the INNO-KANIS project suggests the use of zoom-cameras as a qualifying method for the operational condition of sewers (Plihal et al. 2014).

The zoom-camera method is usable when inspecting pipelines from manhole to manhole, and inspection is done both downstream and upstream. The zoom-camera method does not substitute or decrease the need of CCTV inspections, but it can be used as a pre-screening method to help to focus on the parts of the network which are in the worst condition. Up to ten times more pipeline can be inspected with a zoom-camera method than with a CCTV method, and it is effective for manhole inspections as well (Table 3.7; Feeney et al. 2009).

Table 3.7. Inspection made with a zoom-camera (Feeney et al. 2009; this publication).

Sewer type	Only non-pressurized.			
Material	All.			
Dimension	150 mm ->.			
Defects to be seen	Crevice, fissure, I/I, roots, overall estimation of pipeline's inner wall,			
	joints, connections.			
Procedure	From manhole to manhole.			
Currently available	Everywhere.			
Pros	Fast CASI method.			
	Efficient tool when prioritizing and classifying network.			
Cons	Deformation and/or sedimentation affects negatively.			
	Only available above water level.			
	Cannot provide information of structural condition without laser			
	scanning or such methods.			
Unit price	Approximately 1-2 €/m including analysis of results (and data trans-			
	fer to a cloud service).			
Unit execution time	From a manhole, it takes less than a minute to inspect a pipeline.			
	Up to kilometers per day of inspected pipelines.			

Figures 3.6 and 3.7 illustrate different zoom-cameras available.



Figure 3.6. QuickView® camera. https://www.envirosight.com/quickview.php



Figure 3.7. A zoom-camera. <u>https://www.messen-nord.de/products/drain-testing-and-inspection/drain-testing-and-inspection-manhole-camera-systems.html?L=1</u>

3.3 CCTV IN THE CASI PROCESS

CCTV was developed in the 1960s in Germany. In Finland the CCTV method arrived in 1970s. Most currently used methods are reliant on this method.

To carry out a CCTV inspection, a camera mounted on a robot crawler is lowered from a manhole to a pipe. There are several methods in which to operate the crawler and camera. If a pipeline is large in diameter, or if it's partly filled with water, there are tools to put the camera on a raft and operate the inspection with it. Smaller diameter pipes can be inspected with a push-cam method where the camera is pushed to the pipeline (Feeney et al. 2009).

Taulukko 5.1. Ennen läpiajettavalla kameralla tehtävää tutkimusta tarvittavat tehtävät. Ennen kuvaamisen suorittamista

Tarkasta, että kameran kaikki ominaisuudet toimivat;

- kameran paineistus, valot, kuvan terävyys, kääntömekanismi, kameran nostomekanismi, kaapelin kunto

- kalibroi säännöllisesti viettokaltevuuden mittaus järjestelmä
- Kuvauksen jälkeen

- pidä kameralaitteisto puhtaana

- tarkasta kameran kaapelin kunto (pieni vuoto kaapelissa voi aiheuttaa ison vian kamerajärjestelmään)

HUOM! Tilaajan ei tarvitse hyväksyä epätarkkaa kuvaustulosta

CCTV inspection is often manual, and the operator stops and zooms (pan-and-tilt) the camera when a defect is detected. Defects are then reported as the distance from the starting manhole: pictures are also included. This procedure has been found to be considerably prone to error, with some defects being neglected or misanalysed. The expertise of the operator greatly affects the result, but still doesn't yield objective analyses of the pipeline inspection (McKim & Sinha, 1999; Kirkham et al. 2000; Feeney et al. 2009). A study made in the Netherlands showed a 25 % probability of a certain defect being neglected entirely (Dirksen et al., 2013). Despite errors and often vague results, the CCTV inspection is a very useful method in CASI process (Feeney et al. 2009).

CCTV inspection provides both video and a visual determination of the material of a pipeline. It is possible to recognize, locate and identify most of the defects, such as roots, which is why CCTV is the most used CASI method for water utility companies (Table 3.8; Feeney et al. 2009).

Similarly, as with zoom-cameras, the CCTV inspection only provides information above the water level (Feeney et al. 2009). The structural condition of the pipeline remains unclear, and it requires the use of other methods to inspect this further (Clemens et al. 2014).

Several new methods have been developed to help improve CCTV inspections and its results. Such methods include upgrades to robot crawlers, cameras, lighting, etc. (Feeney et al. 2009). Other tools have been connected and attached with the CCTV camera and crawler, such as radars (Olhoeft 2000), acoustic tools (Feng et al. 2012), sonars (Kirkham et al. 2000), laser scanning (Duran et al. 2003) or a combination of them all (Duran et al. 2007; EPA 2010).

Sewer type	All pipelines, water mains, connection lines.		
Material	All.		
Dimension	150 mm ->.		
Defects to be seen	Crevice, fissure, I/I, roots, overall estimation of pipeline's inner wall,		
	joints, connections, corrosion.		
Procedure	Inspection with a robot crawler.		
Currently available	Everywhere.		
Pros	Visual inspection.		
Cons	Deformation and/or sedimentation affects negatively.		
	Only information above water level.		
	Cannot provide information of structural condition without laser scan-		
	ning or such methods.		
	Error-prone – human errors.		
	Pre-washing and/or cleaning is required. Qualification of pre-washing		
	is required but seldom done.		
Unit price	2 - 15 € / m, requires proper pre-washing.		
	Prewashing is the most arduous and costly part of the process.		
Unit execution time	300 - 600 m / day.		
Water mains	Water mains can be inspected with CCTV. However, hygiene must be		
	taken into special account.		

Table 3.8. CCTV inspection's information. (Feeney et al. 2009; this book)

Digital CCTV

The digital CCTV method (DigiSewer®) has been in use since (approximately) the year 2000. It has been in use in some parts of the world, but there have been challenges with computational capacity, data transfer, etc. before now. Originally the digital CCTV was developed to help and improve the quality of the CCTV inspections. The digital CCTV method is based on the so-called multi-sensory technique, and provides a more accurate and objective result that is analogous to regular CCTV. DigiSewer® uses a fish eye lens camera that provides a 360° image of the inner wall of the pipeline. This method is somewhat faster than analogous CCTV inspection, since there are no stops and zooms (pan-and-tilt). What's different is that the results are analyzed after data collection is complete (Table 3.9; Allouche & Freure, 2002; Feeney et al. 2009, Daher 2015).

The panoramo®-system combines two high-resolution digital cameras (front and back), and it is operated with a robot crawler. Both cameras are equipped with a fish eye lens yielding an image field of view of 185°. This method results in images every 5 cm along the whole inner wall of the pipeline. Panoramo®-images have been found to provide highly accurate data, with up to 90 to 99 % accuracy (Müller & Fischer, 2007).

Sewer type	All pipelines, water mains, connection lines.			
Material	All.			
Dimension	150 mm - 1200 mm.			
Defects to be seen	Crevice, fissure, I/I, roots, overall estimation of pipeline's inner wall,			
	joints, connections, corrosion.			
Procedure	Inspection with a robot crawler.			
Currently available	Everywhere.			
Pros	A third party can easily do the quality control of images.			
	Digital measurements.			
	Comparable results from one inspection to another.			
	Automated analysis of results is possible with digital images.			
	Faster than conventional CCTV inspection.			
	Provides comprehensive image of a pipeline in digital form.			
	Can be used in similar inspections as the conventional CCTV.			
Cons	Deformation and/or sedimentation affects negatively.			
	Only information above water level.			
	Cannot provide information of structural condition without laser scan-			
	ning or such methods.			
	Pre-washing and/or cleaning is required. Qualification of pre-washing			
	is required but seldom done.			
Unit price	2 - 15 € / m, requires proper pre-washing.			
	Pre-washing is the most arduous and costly part of the process.			
Unit execution time	600-1000 m / day.			
Water mains	Water mains can be inspected with digital CCTV. However, hygiene			
	must be taken into an especial account.			

Table 3.9. Digital CCTV inspection's information (Feeney et al. 2009; this publication).

Figures 3.8 – 3.14 shows several camera systems with robot crawlers.



Figure 3.8. MiniCam. <u>https://docs.wix-</u> static.com/ugd/673459_f36be7808398478b98c62f9fbcc67b98.pdf



Figure 3.9. CCTV camera, iPEK. <u>https://www.ipek.at/index.php?id=694</u>



Figure 3.10. CCTV camera, IBAK. <u>https://www.ibak.de/de/produkte/ibak_show/fron-tenddetail/product/t-76-hd/</u>



Figure 3.11. DigiSewer® camera. <u>https://nexxis.com.au/product/digisewer-190/</u>



Figure 3.12. DigiSewer® camera. https://nexxis.com.au/product/digisewer-190/



Figure 3.13. Panoramo® camera. <u>https://www.ibak.de/en/homepage/</u>



Figure 3.14. Cues Inc. digital CCTV camera. <u>https://cuesinc.com/equipment/digital-uni-versal-camera-duc</u>

3.6 LASER SCANNING AND ECHO-LOCATION CASI METHODS

3.6.1 Laser scanning

Laser scanning is a very useful method to estimate geometric changes along the inner wall of pipeline. It results in a point cloud, which can be used to analyze deformations, sagging, and wall thickness with a high accuracy. Laser scanning provides very high accuracy: less than 0.5 % errors were found in Clemens et al. (2000). A laser scanning tool is attachable to a robot crawler used for CCTV inspections (Table 3.10; Feeney et al. 2009; Clemens et al. 2014).

Sewer type	All pipelines, water mains, mannoles.		
Material	All.		
Dimension	Approximately 150 mm - 800 mm.		
Defects to be seen	Deformation, corrosion, accurate measurement of inner wall.		
Procedure	Often attached to a CCTV crawler.		
Currently available	Everywhere.		
Pros	Provides more accurate information as compared to CCTV.		
	3D model of a pipeline/manhole.		
Cons	Only above water level.		
Unit price	Price is included in the CCTV crawler price. Analyses costs some		
-	extra,		
Unit execution time	n, 300 m / day.		

Table 3.10. Laser scanning of pipelines and manholes. (Feeney et al. 2009)

Figures 3.15 – 3.17 illustrates laser scanning tools.



Figure 3.15. ProLaser. https://www.minicam.co.uk/prolaser



Figure 3.16. DigiSewer® camera. https://www.envirosight.com/dwnld/rvx_digisewer.pdf





3.6.2 Ground penetrating radars

Ground penetrating radar (GPR) can be used above ground to inspect underground materials and structures. Originally, the US Army have developed this system, and GPR principles are similar to that of radar. Several different factors such as location, frequency, and time, can be analyzed with GPR sensors. GPR can be used to locate voids and collapses as well as identify the types of foundation pipelines. I/I can also be located with a GPR (Feeney et al. 2009; Daniels, 2005; Hao et al. 2012; Daher, 2015). GPR technology is also usable for inner wall inspections (Ékes et al. 2011; Ékes & Maier, 2012).

Electrical resistivity tomography (ERT) uses thousands of current-potential energy measurements from above ground, resulting in the visualization of electrical current in the ground. ERT can locate cracks, fissures, and other properties, and their continuities

in the bed rock. The electro-current in the bed rock is mostly due to electrolytic ions (interstitial water) and it can vary several orders of magnitude in a small area (Figure 3.18; Korkealaakso, 2018).



Figure 3.18. Ground resistivity measurements used in VTT Technical Research Centre of Finland LTD. (Korkealaakso, 2018)

Figures 3.19 – 3.24 illustrate several camera-combinations for radar-based inspections.



Figure 3.19. SewerVue®. <u>http://sewervue.com/long-range-pipe-inspection-tracked-ro-bot-surveyor.html</u>



Flgure 3.20. Autonomous crawler. https://www.redzone.com/



Figure 3.21. Autonomous crawler. <u>https://www.academia.edu/18109939/Towards_au-tonomous_sewer_robots_the_MAKRO_project</u>



Figure 3.22. Pure Robotics' crawler. <u>https://puretechltd.com/technology/purerobotics-pipeline-inspection-system/</u>



Figure 3.23. Multi-sensor pipeline inspection. <u>https://caryloncorp.com/services/multi-sensor-pipeline-inspection/</u>



Figure 3.24. SmartBall®. <u>https://puretechltd.com/articles/lyon-inspects-water-main-for-</u>leaks-with-smartball/

3.6.3 Other methods

Gamma-gamma-loggers (GGL) have been developed to inspect concrete pillars and deep bore holes in the mining, oil, and gas industry. For this method, a gamma-gamma-rod, which has a Cesium-137 source, is used. Sensors are covered by lead to protect them from direct radiation. GGL is very good for inspecting concrete materials, and their structural densities. GGL can be used to estimate the structural conditions of concrete pipelines too, that show voids and other defects in the material (Feeney et al. 2009).

Infrared thermography (IRT) inspects thermal differences between materials/structures. IRT utilizes computational tools which visualize the thermal differences using different colors. This enables a user to see the inner walls of pipelines and their defects, such as I/I locations (Feeney et al. 2009). Unit price is approximately $5 \notin /m$ (Boshoff et al. 2009; Daher 2015).

The micro deflection (MD) method applies small, localized pressure increases to the pipe wall that can detect deformations and indirectly, its structural condition (Makar, 1999). MD can be used for brick, concrete and clay materials. MD is only partially usable for sewer and water main inspections since it only provides general information about the pipelines (Feeney et al. 2009).

3.7 ACOUSTIC CASI METHODS

Acoustic methods measure vibrations and/or sounds through a certain material. When used in sewer and watermain inspections, the results can help to locate defects.

Acoustic methods are often used to inspect pressurized pipelines (force mains and water mains), and they can be classified as: (i) I/I and/or leakage location; (ii) PCCP (prestressed concrete cylinder pipe) methods and; (iii) sonar- or ultrasound methods emitting a high pitch sound (Feeney et al. 2009).

Loggers (for I/I and/or leakages) utilize sound or vibration analyses in pressurized pipelines. Loggers are used with recorders, underwater microphones and geophones, and they are often used in water main inspections. Loggers have been around since 1980s. They can be installed permanently to water mains.

PCCP inspections include methods both for inner and outer wall inspections.

Sonar methods (Sound Navigation and Ranging) can be used to inspect under water pipeline walls, for example. Sonar is often combined with a CCTV raft. This method can be used in large diameter pipelines and tunnels (from 1500 mm to 3000 mm), and the water depth can vary from 6 to 60 m (Andrews 1998; Feeney et al. 2009).

Sonar utilizes acoustic pulses and it needs an emitter-and-sensor pair. The lag of the pulse from the emitter to the sensor indicates how far the inspected surface is from the emitter. If water supply networks are inspected, often a high frequency of 2 MHz is used, but lower frequencies (less than 200 kHz) are needed for structural inspections. The sonar method results in a very accurate surface (up to 3 mm resolution) model of a pipeline. Also, different materials yield different responses (Feeney et al. 2009).

Ultrasound methods (UM) for CASI have been developed recently, such as those at King's College, London. UM yields a very accurate surface result (Feeney et al. 2009). In the USA has been developed a UM combined with digital sewer inspection method (Lyer et al. 2011).

Impact Echo (IE) and **Spectral Analysis of Surface Waves** (SASW) are suitable methods for concrete materials. Both methods are based on the elastic effect of a material from a pneumatic hammer to the pipeline's wall. IE and SASW are effective in locating cracks, detached coatings, voids in the soil, and structural changes (Feeney et al. 2009).

Acoustic and ultrasound methods show (Table 3.11; Marshall & Loera, 2009):

- micro cracks;
- cracks;
- detached coating;
- pipeline's lower surface;
- pipeline's overburden;
- voids in the soil;
- pipeline's unnatural (faster) ageing;
- discontinuances of water pressure in force mains and water mains.

	In-Line loggers	Acoustic methods	Sonar/ultrasound
Sewer type	Force mains, water mains, non-pressur- ized sewers	Force mains	Force mains, water mains, non-pressurized sewers
Material	All	PCCP	All
Dimension	100 mm ->	450 mm ->	100 mm ->
Defects to be seen	Leakages, I/I	PCCP's defects	 micro cracks cracks detached coating pipeline's lower surface pipeline's overburden voids in the soil pipeline's unnatural (faster) ageing discontinuances of water pressure in force mains and water mains
Procedure	Finding leakages and I/I in pressur- ized pipelines.	PCCP lines control and monitoring.	Under water mains, large pipelines, tunnels.
Currently available	Available.	Available.	Available.
Pros	Detects even minor leakages and I/I.	Good as a prescreening method.	Good for all materials and most of diameters.
Cons	Requires pressur- ized and moving water.	Only measures the gen- eral situation.	Only for under water pipelines and pipelines filled (partly) with water.
Unit price	NA	NA	NA
Unit execution time	NA	NA	NA

Table 3.11. Acoustic methods of CASI (Feeney et al. 2009; Bracken et al. 2009; Galleher Jr. et al. 2009; Paulson & Ngyen, 2010).

PCCP = Pre-stressed cylindrical concrete pipe; NA = not available

3.8 ELECTRICAL AND ELECTROMAGNETIC CASI METHODS

Electricity and electromagnetic currents can also be used to inspect pipelines. Eddy current testing (ECT), Remote Field Eddy Current (RFEC), and Remote Field Transformer Coupling (RTFC) methods are usable in iron/metallic pipes. ECT and RFEC methods use electric current and changes in the magnetic field. Magnetic Flux Leakage (MFL) method is used especially in the oil and gas industry to inspect metal loss and crack detection in iron and other metallic pipelines (Feeney et al. 2009; Psutka & Kong, 2009). Figure 3.25 illustrates a magnetic field inspection robot for pipelines, and Table 3.12 lists the pros and cons of these methods.



Figure 3.25. Magnetic field inspection robot. <u>https://puretechltd.com/technology/purero-</u> botics-pipeline-inspection-system/

ElectroScan method (ESM) was developed in Germany in 1999. It utilizes electrical currents to detect pipe defects. It can be used to inspect if there are leakages and I/I in non-metallic pipelines (clay, plastic, concrete, brick). However, the ESM cannot identify the cause of a defect or its location. Computational assessment can be used to locate the leakages and to estimate the causes. Unit price of ESM inspection is approximately $3 \in / m$ (Tuccillo et al. 2011). ESM is especially useful in CASI of large diameter pipes (Moy et al. 2006).

ECT uses variable electric currents in the magnetic field yielding eddy currents in metallic pipes. This method measures small changes in the magnetic field and eddy currents, and qualities of pipelines are then analyzed. ECT can detect defects only from the surface of the pipeline (Feeney et al. 2009). It is good for small diameter pipes (less than 100 mm) (Daher, 2015).

RFEC was developed to conquer the limitations of ECT. This method can also detect defects in the inner part of pipeline's wall and uses a magnetic field with eddy currents (Feeney et al. 2009).

MFL is also useful when metallic pipes are inspected. It was developed during the 1920s and 1930s to help the oil and gas industry in asset management. In 1965 Tuboscope was developed for pipeline inspections. In this method, the magnetic field is analyzed with one or more magnets placed on the pipe's wall. It can detect fissures, a lack of welded joints, and points of pitting. It can only be used to inspect metallic pipes (Feeney et al. 2009).

	Electrical leakage	ECT/RFEC	MFL	
	and I/I detection			
Sewer type	Force mains, water	Force mains, water	Force mains, water	
	mains, non-pres-	mains, non-pressurized	mains, non-pressurized	
	surized sewers.	sewers.	sewers.	
Material	non-metallic.	Metallic.	Metallic.	
Dimension	75 mm ->.	50 mm ->.	50 mm – 1400 mm.	
Defects to be	Fissures, leakage	Loss of metallic sub-	Loss of metallic sub-	
seen	and I/I.	stance, fissures, leak-	stance, cracks (any direc-	
		age, I/I, wall thickness.	tion).	

Table 3.12. Electrical and magnetic methods (Feeney et al. 2009).

Procedure	To estimate leak- age and I/I poten- tial.	Water boilers' pipeline assessment	Petrochemical industry.
Currently available	Available.	Available.	Available with limitations.
Pros	Useful in inspecting house connections.	Many diameter pipes can be inspected. Defects can be located.	Oil and gas industry uses this.
Cons	Non-pressurized lines have to be filled with water prior to inspection.	Metallic pipes with limi- tations only.	Only very few cases in sewer inspections are known.
Unit price			
Unit execution time			

3.9 HOUSE CONNECTIONS AND THEIR INSPECTIONS

House connection lines are only rarely inspected. For instance, leakage and I/I can be significant through these lines, and their CASI should be increased considerably as compared to the current situation. Table 3.13 lists of CASI methods useful for inspections and pre-washing of house connection lines.

Table 3	.13. Inspection	and washing	methods	for house	connection lines	(Simicevic &
Sterling	, 2006).	_				

Method		Description		
•	House-to-house survey	Locates cleanouts visible from the surface.		
•	Smoke testing	Locates pipes that are not very deep and have defects. Used often and on a large scale.		
•	Dye water flooding	Checks if the house is connected to the mainline. If so, another method can be utilized to identify the lateral layout if necessary.		
•	Mainline CCTV	Locates lateral-to-mainline connections along the mainline. Used frequently.		
	Walkover sonde (on lateral CCTV, flexible rod or cleaning hose)	Identifies layout and depth of the pipe on its entire length (where the camera can pass). The most accurate method after open cut excavating.		
•	Rod probe from surface	Locates cleanouts where they are suspected to be. Used occasionally.		
•	Plumber's snake	Identifies layout of the pipe on its entire length, however difficult to work with in noisy conditions. Used less as other methods became available.		
	Vacuum excavation	May be used to locate and check the depth of the pipe at selected points where it the lateral is believed to be laid, however mostly used for installation of cleanouts and opening of small pits where needed during lateral rehabilitation. Has become very popular for its ease of use and small footprint.		
•	Ground penetrating radar (GPR)	Identifies layout and depth of the pipe where the soil conditions are favorable and access to inside the lateral is difficult. Currently used rather infrequently but use increasing as cost of equipment drops and ease of use improves. Research is improving the resolution of utilities at greater depths in difficult soil conditions.		
	Radar tomography (RT)	Can be used for locating (on a large scale) of sewer laterals if the surveyed area is accessible to a vehicle pulling a pool-table-size attachment. Creates 3D images showing utility lines and other features appearing at various depths.		

4 OTHER METHODS LINKED TO PIPELINES CASI

4.1 MANHOLE INSPECTION METHODS (MIM)

Manhole inspection methods (MIM) include several CASI methods. However, in most of the cases, MIM only requires a visual inspection with pictures taken at the location. There are many MIM projects, which have focused on digital inspection methods. Such methods include CleverScan® and the Panoramo® manhole inspection camera. Table 4.1 lists known methods for MIM.

Method	Quality of results		
CleverScan®	Good, video material, dimensional accuracy with digital		
	images, point cloud of inspection.		
Panoramo® manhole inspec-	Good, video material, dimensional accuracy with digital		
tion camera	images, point cloud of inspection.		
CCTV equipment	Poor, only visual inspection.		
Manual/visual inspection	Mediocre.		
with picture taken using a			
standard camera			

Table 4.1.	Manhole	inspection	methods	(MIM).
		mopeenen	111011040	······

Figures 4.1 – 4.3. Illustrates MIM equipment.



Figure 4.1. CleverScan®. http://cleverscan.com/



Figure 4.2. Panoramo® manhole inspection camera. <u>https://www.mswmag.com/g/wef-tec-product-preview/2015/08/rapidview_ibak_north_america_panoramo_si</u>



Figure 4.3. 3D color manhole scanning equipment. <u>https://trenchlesstechno-logy.com/cues-introduces-first-wireless-3d-color-manhole-scanning-technology/</u>

4.2 TUNNELS AND THEIR INSPECTION METHODS

Tunnels are a very important part of water and sewer networks throughout many cities and municipalities. Many CASI methods are available for tunnels' inspections however, there are both limitations and extra requirements for the equipment. For example, MPR and GPR methods are possible for the inspection of tunnels. Drone driven cameras (Figure 4.4) have also been developed and been put into use (in Spain and in the USA). Large diameter pipelines and tunnels can also be inspected by rafts, with all the equipment needed (Figure 4.5).



Figure 4.4. Drone with inspection equipment. <u>https://www.thelocal.es/20151207/could</u>-drones-soon-replace-workers-in-barcelonas-sewers



Figure 2 SEK prototype (left) and test of the SVM (right) in a real sewer Figure 4.5. Raft with inspection equipment (Teichgräber et al., 2006).

4.3 INFORMATION AVAILABLE FROM PUMPING STATIONS

Data analysis methods are available as an indirect inspection method of the sewer (and water main) networks. In the Helsinki Region, the waste water division of HSY uses data analyses to estimate flow of the pumping stations and to evaluate the overall condition of the sewer network (HSY, 2017).

4.4 FLOW MEASUREMENTS

Flow measurements of sewer pipelines are often made with level measurements or velocity measurements. The flow through pipelines can then calculated with continuity equations. The proper method of flow measurement for each case must be evaluated carefully since, for example, pressurized pipelines, the amount of suspended matter and other such factors are the cause of the initial requirement for investigation. It is very important to ensure that the service life of batteries, the data transfer method, the data network, etc. are sufficient for use. Real-time flow measurements might endanger the service life of batteries for example (Feeney et al. 2009).

4.5 MEASUREMENTS OF WATER QUALITY

Water quality parameters, such as temperature, volume, the number of suspended solids, etc. help to evaluate the condition of the network upstream. Such methods can be continuous or one-time measurements. For example, Vuove-insinöörit Oy in Finland executes indirect inspections of sewer networks. These methods are useful as prescreening methods when estimating the overall condition of sewer network.

4.6 SAMPLES TAKEN FROM A PIPE

During maintenance actions and connection procedures (for example), it is possible to take samples from along a pipeline's wall. These samples can be analyzed to get more information about a pipelines' quality and other properties. This information could be a "life-saver" and essential when estimating the overall condition of a network to get a more effective asset management for a water utility company. Even if samples are a good way to get information, the sampling should be taken carefully and without additional stress to the pipeline.

When a sample is taken, all the following data must be documented:

- material;
- age (build-in year);
- diameter (of the pipe);
- soil type (properties like corrosivity, stability, changes in use);
- load of the pipe (traffic, flow, water quality etc.);
- other data that is needed.

4.7 PRESSURE TESTING, SMOKE TESTING, COLOR TESTING

Pressure testing should be used when a sewer pipeline (or a set of pipes) is accepted. However, this type of testing is quite seldom used in sewers but is used in water mains. Pressure testing can be made with water or air. It should be noted that air penetrates smaller pores 20-fold more than water and thus, only water should be used in this method.

Smoke and color testing is useful when illegal or leaking joints and connections are suspected in a certain area. Those methods use safe substances to reveal possible deviations.

5 CASI METHODS IN DIFFERENT CASES

Good quality initial data from a sewer network is vitally important. Much of the initial data can be improved upon during the pre-screening process and/or CASI. A pre-screening method that incorporates data analysis can provide good enough information for CASI throughout all parts of the network. It is also possible to measure, for example, spatial information when carrying out CASI in the field.

There are methods from above ground, such as GPR, electrical resistivity tomography (ERT) and others, that can help to locate and analyze the pipelines condition indirectly, without accessing them. These methods also provide essential information about soil and other underground structures that might affect the condition of the sewers.

5.1 GRAVITY COLLECTORS

Appendix 1 lists CASI methods for gravity collectors.

Pre-screening methods suitable for gravity collectors include the critical assessment method, further data analytical methods, and zoom-inspection. Even if the data analytical methods are suitable, they are not enough on their own to use for CASI along those pipelines.

CASI methods include CCTV and digital CCTV with robot crawlers, laser scanning, sonar and ultrasound inspections, in-line I/I detection, electrical methods and flow measurements. Water quality measurements are suitable, too.

Table 5.2 lists methods suitable for gravity collectors, and Finnish companies providing those.

Table 5.2 CASI for gravity collectors and force mains, including list of companies (in Finland).

Method	Results of the method	Provider
Critical assessment	Classification of sewer	Universities, water utility companies, con-
	and water networks. Spa-	sultancies.
	tial data analysis.	
Zoom-camera in-	Visual CASI method.	Delete Finland Oy
spection	Does not require pre-	Eerola-Yhtiöt Oy
	washing/cleaning of	Lassila &Tikanoja
	pipes. Good for pre-	Underground City Oy
	screening and opera-	
	tional condition assess-	
	Ment.	Delete Fielend Or
CCTV	Visual CASI method. Pre-	Delete Finland Oy
	washing/cleaning re-	Eerola- Millol Oy
	quirea.	
		Kaiyonumnnu Kulmala
		KM Pine Ov
		Lahden Putkistokuvaus Ov
		Lassila & Tikanoja
		Oulun viemärihuolto
		Raision Pesuhuolto Ov
		RTK Palvelu
		SanMat Kunnossapito Oy
		Salon Imuautot Oy
		Seppo Eskelinen Öy
		Suokon imupalvelu
		Suurpää Oy
		Viemäritek Oy
Digital CCTV	Visual CASI method. Pre-	Delete Finland Oy
	washing/cleaning re-	Oy DigiSewer Productions Ltd
	quired Dimensional accu-	Joen Loka
	racy. Automated results	Lassila & Likanoja
1	analysis possible.	Ou DiviCourse Droductions 1 td
Laser scanning	Accurate 3D model of the	Oy DigiSewer Productions Ltd
	inner pipe.	Lassila & likanoja
Sonar method	Structural assessment of	Loxus Technologies Ltd
	nines Soil properties	
	around the nine	
Ultra sound method	Structural assessment of	Not available in Finland.
	pipes.	
Electrical condition		VTT / Korkealaakso
assessment		Undergound City Oy
Water quality as-	The amount of I/I and Io-	Aquapriori Oy
sessment	calization of sources.	Vuove-Insinöörit Oy
Flow measure-	Local information of net-	Aquapriori Oy
ments	work. To estimate I/I in an	Vuove-Insinöörit Oy
	area.	Lots of providers
Data analyses us-	Blockages and I/I infor-	Perfektio Oy
ing data from pump-	mation almost in real-	Avarea Oy
ing stations	time. Indirect CASI	
	method.	iviany other providers.

5.2 PRESSURE LINES, FORCE MAINS

Appendix 2 lists CASI methods suitable for force mains. Most of the methods provided are also suitable for water mains.

Force mains can be inspected by acoustic methods or with sensors flowing along the water pipe. Pre-screening methods suitable for gravity collectors include the critical assessment method, further data analysis, and zoom-inspections. Even if data analytical methods are suitable, they are not enough on their own to use as CASI along pipelines.

Table 5.2 lists methods suitable for force mains, and the Finnish companies providing those.

5.3 GENERAL INSPECTION WITH PRESCREENING METHODS

Pre-screening of water, sewer and storm water networks is possible with data analytical or physical methods. Those methods result in a criticality assessment, general condition assessment with information of operational condition of the sewers, and so on. The resulting data is then combined with network information (NIS, GIS, other format), failure and blockage information, and possibly information from open sources, such as from groundwater and surface water registries. Pre-screened data is then classified as critical pipes, pipes in poor condition, pipes with high I/I rate and so forth, depending on the process and programs used. That data helps to focus the more detailed condition assessment methods to areas where network is most probably in its worst condition. That data is then the basis of condition management and renovation programs following the prescreening phase.

For example, zoom inspection is one of the physical prescreening methods, which helps to screen whole networks in a relatively short time compared to more detailed pipeline inspection methods. This method is also suitable to estimate operational condition of the sewer and storm water network, because it is carried out without pre-cleaning phase.

5.4 REDUCING I/I IN THE SEWER AND STORMWATER PIPELINES

Methods to analyze I/I in sewers and storm water pipelines need initial data, such as accurate network information (NIS, GIS, other format), flow rate information from the pumping stations, CSO and SSO registries, and rain fall. The I/I can also be analyzed with indirect methods (such as Vuove method available in Finland), which analyze water quality parameters such as temperature, salinity, flow rate, and color.

This information is then combined and analyzed with the resulting aerial information of the pipelines; which are mostly affected by the I/I. That helps water utility to focus on those areas with more detailed CASI methods.

5.5 DATA COLLECTION FOR HYDRAULIC MODELLING

When a hydraulic model of the network is being made, there is a great need for accurate data, such as diameters, materials, GIS information and such. Here are listed some available methods for data management prior to hydraulic modelling:

• FME® platform is one useful method to gather and defragment network information. In this method, build year, material and diameter of the water, sewer, or storm water pipelines are estimated and unified;

- A zoom inspection method (such as QuickView®) is a very handy tool to estimate and collect data from networks since it is fast and does not require a precleaning phase;
- Manhole inspections (such as CleverScan®) are important for I/I and capacity analyses of networks.

5.6 MINIMUM REQUIREMENTS OF SEVERAL CASI METHODS

This chapter lists the minimum requirements for several CASI methods, both Finnish and international sources have been used.

Tables 5.4 – 5.7 Lists requirements for each method.

Target	Pipelines, DN100 - DN2000	Pipelines, manholes, containers, other spaces
Battery	12 V.	Reloadable, changeable.
Camera	1280x720 (2,38 megapixel).	Color image.
Zooming pro- perties	30:1 optic.	Digital x 12, 360:1 enlargement
Focusing	Manual / automatic.	
Lighting	Good enough.	Adjustable lightning.
Requirements	Moisture resistant, Oscillating quality.	
Handling of ca- mera	With 6 m long rod.	
Stabilization	Floor-fixing to the bottom of manhole.	Floor-fixing to the ground.
Recording	Manual / analogous.	Automatic.
Data transfer	Via cloud-based system.	
Application	For camera and data trans- fer.	Zooming, lightning, data saving, coltage.
Information	Address, ID, date.	Time, length of data, GPS infor- mation.

Table 5.4 Requirements for zoom-camera.

Table 5.5. Requirements for nozzle cameras.

Target	Pipelines, DN200 -	Attachable to root cutter.
	DN800.	
Camera	HD color camera.	
Battery	12 v.	Reloadable, changeable.
Lighting	LED.	Separate control.
Recor-	Flash memory / 64 Gt.	Inner recording of camera / SDH max 32
ding		Gt.

Table 5.6. CCTV with robot crawler.

Target	Pipelines DN90 - DN2000	
Camera	CCD color camera	Luminous sensitivity 1 Lux
Camera		
Accuracy range	Horizontal 530 TVL / PAL	Manual/automatic focus
Zoom	Manual	Automatic
Lighting	LED	Stepless control from 0 to 100 %
Recording	Flash memory	Inner recording of camera
Reporting	Manual/automatic data transfer	Analysis
Pan-Tilt	Stepless +/- 135 °	Up/down, sideways
Pressure requirement	1 bar	Pressure alarm
Laser scanning	option	
Back-camera		
Robot crawler	Min 4 wheel drive	Wheels changeable
Descending gradient	Documented	
sensor		
GPS emitter		
Cable drum	Automatic, cable min 200 m	Distance meter included

Table 5.7. Digital CCTV with robot crawler.

<u> </u>		
Camera	HD color camera.	Photo camera.
Resolution	Min 380 000 pixels.	
Lens of the camera	Viewing angle min 180 °.	
Lighting	LED.	Controllable.
Recording	To the equipment.	Flash memory.
For pipelines DN150 – DN800	Mechanical centring.	With application.
Images	Plan view of the inner pipe surface.	1-3 views.
Crawler	Min 4 wheel drive.	Wheels changeable.
Decending gradient sen-	Documented.	
SOI		
Graphic image of pipe		
Precision	1 mm.	
Analysis of defects	Manually/automatically.	At the location or by a third
		party.
Cable drum	Automatic, cable min 200 m.	Distance meter included.

REFERENCES

Ahmadi, M., Cherqui, F., De Massiac, J-C. & Le Gauffre, P. 2015. Benefits using basic, imprecise or uncertain data for elaborating sewer inspection programmes. Structure and Infrastructure Engineering, 11(3): 376-388.

Ahmadi, M., Cherqui, F., De Massiac, J-C. & Le Gauffre, P. 2014. Influence of available data on sewer inspection program efficiency. Urban Water Journal, 11(8): 641-656. Ahrary, A., Nassiraei, A.A.F. & Ischikawa, M. 2007. A study of an autonomous mobile robot for a sewer inspection system. Artificial Life Robotics, 11: 23-27.

Al-Barqawi, H. & Zayed, T. 2006. Condition Rating Model for Underground Infrastructure Sustainable Water Mains. Journal of performance of constructed facilities, May 2006. ASCE.

Al-Barqawi, H. & Zayed, T. 2006. "Condition rating model for underground infrastructure sustainable water mains." J. Perform. Constr. Facil., 20(2), 126–135.

Allouche, E.N. & Freure. 2002. Management and maintenance practices of storm and sanitary sewers in Canadian Municipalities. April 2002 ICLR Research Paper Series – No. 18

Ana, E., and Bauwens, W. 2007. Sewer Network Asset Management Decision Support Tools: A Review. Presented at International Symposium on New Directions in Urban Water Management, UNESCO Paris, France.

Ana, E., Bauwens, W., Pessemier, M., Thoeye, C., Smolders, S., Boonen, I. & De Gueldre, G. 2009. An investigation of the factors influencing sewer structural deterioration. Urban Water Journal, 6(4): 303-312.

Ana, E.V. & Bauwens, W. 2010. Modeling the structural deterioration of urban drainage pipes: the state-of-the-art in statistical methods. Urban Water Journal Vol. 7, No. 1, February 2010, 47–59

Anderson, S., Finnicum, S., Frechette, D., Garcia, E. & Howells, J. 2015. How Much to Spend on Sewer Inspection, Renewal and Replacement? A Risk-Based Assessment for DC Water.

Andrews, M.E. large diameter sewer condition assessment using combined sonar and CCTV equipment.

Ariaratnam, S.T. & Guercio, N. 2006. In-pipe ground penetrating radar for non-destructive evaluation of PVC lined concrete pipe. Advances in Engineering Structures, Mechanics & Construction, 763–772.

ASCE. 2013. "Report Card for America's Infrastructure." American Society of Civil Engineers, <u>http://www.infrastructurereportcard.org</u>.

Atef, A.M. 2010. Optimal condition assessment policies for water and sewer infrastructures. Opinnäytetyö. The School of Engineering, Nile University

Atef, A., Osman, H. & Moselhi, O. 2012. Multiobjective genetic algorithm to allocate budgetary resources for condition assessment of water and sewer networks. Can. J. Civ. Eng. 39: 978–992 (2012)

AWWA. 2001. Reinvesting in drinking water infrastructure: Dawn of the Replacement Era. 24 s. WWW: http://win-water.org/win_reports/infrastructure.pdf

Baah, K., Dubey, B., Harvey, R. & McBean, E. 2015. A risk-based approach to sanitary sewer pipe asset management. Science of the Total Environment, 505: 1011-1017. Bai, H., Sadiq, R., Najjaran, H., and Rajani, B. 2008. "Condition assessment of buried pipes using hierarchical evidential reasoning model." J. Comput. Civ. Eng., 22(2), 114–122

Behe, M., Mercado, M., Carpenetti, E. & Flinn, E. 2012. Lateral inspection and database development program. WEFTEC 2012 Berger, C., Lohaus, J., Wittner, A. & Schäfer, R. 2002: Der Zustand der Kanalisation in der Bundesrepublik Deutschland, Ergebnisse der ATV-Umfrage 2001, Korrespondenz Abwasser, 2002

Berger, C. & Lohaus, J. 2004. Der Zustand der Kanalisation in der Bundesrepublik Deutschland. Ergebnisse der ATV-Umfrage 2004. <u>www.dwa.de</u>

Bhaskar Dasari, V.M. 2016. Web-based platform for force main infrastructure asset management. Thesis. Virgirnia Polytechnic Institute and State University, Blacksburg, Virginia.

Boshoff, S., Childs, R. & Roberts, L. 2009. "Guidelines for Infrastructure Asset Management in Local Government 2006 – 2009." Department of Provincial and Local Government, REPUBLIC OF SOUTH AFRICA, Pretoria.

Bracken, M. & Johnston, D. 2009. Acoustic methods for determining remaining pipe wall thickness in asbestos cement, and ferrous pipes. Pipelines 2009, Infrastructure's Hidden Assets. ASCE.

Breysse, D., Vasconcelos, E. & Schoefs, F. 2007. Management strategies and improvement of performance of sewer networks. Comput. Aided Civ. Infrastruct. Eng., 22(7), 462–477.

Cakmak, H. 2006. Optimization and controlling of operational cleaning of sewer networks. Pipeline Technology 2006 Conference.

Campbell, S.A. & Fairfield, C.A. 2008. An overview of the various techniques used in routine cleaning and maintenance of clay, concrete and plastic drains. Construction and Building Materials, 22: 50-60.

Cant, J. & Trew, J. 1998. High-pressure water jetting: avoiding damage to sewers. Journal of CIWEM, 12.

Caradot, N., Sonnenberg, H., Kropp, I., Ringe, A., Denhez, S., Hartmann, A. & Rouault, P. 2017. The relevance of sewer deterioration modelling to support asset management strategies. Urban Water Journal, 14(10): 1007-1015.

Caradot, N., Rouault, P., Clemens, F. & Cherqui, F. 2018. Evaluation of uncertainties in sewer condition assessment. Structure and Infrastructure Engineering, 14(2): 264-273. CEN, European Committee for Standardization, 2008. *EN 752 Drain and sewer systems outside buildings.* Brussels, Belgium: CEN.

Chae, M. & Abraham, D. 2001. Neuro-fuzzy approaches for sanitary sewer pipeline condition assessment. J. Comput. Civ. Eng., 15(1), 4–14.

Chae, M.J., Iseley, T. & Abraham, D.M., 2003. Computerized sewer pipe condition assessment. In: Proceedings International Conference on Pipeline Engineering and Construction, Baltimore, MD.

Cherqui, F., Werey, C., Ibrahim, M. & Le Gauffre, P. 2009. CCTV inspection of sewer segments: calibration of performance indicators based on experts' opinions. 11th International Conference on Urban Drainage, Edinburgh, Scotland, UK, 2008

Clemens, F., Stanić, N., Van der Schoot, W., Langeveld, J. & Lepot, M. 2014. Uncertainties associated with laser profiling of concrete sewer pipes for the quantification of the interior geometry. Structure and Infrastructure Engineering, 2015 Vol. 11, No. 9, 1218–1239.

Clothier, A.S., Oram, P. & Kubek, A.M. 2011. Practical application of force main condition assessment methodologies for long term asset management needs. Pipelines 2011: A Sound Conduit for Sharing Solutions. ASCE.

Conant, J.B. & Jones, C. 2012. New approaches to inspect water pipelines running under rivers, lakes, levies and critical transport infrastructure. Pipelines 2012: Innovations in Design, Construction, Operations, and Maintenance – Doing More with Less. ASCE. Cordes, S., Berns, K., Eberl, M., Ilg, W. & Suna, R. 1997. Autonomous sewer inspection with a wheeled, multiarticulated robot. Robotics and Autonomous Systems, 21: 123-135. Corsentino, M., Burnam, J. & Wade, M. 2012. Sewer main condition assessment in the Last Frontier. Pipelines 2012: Innovations in Design, Construction, Operations, and Maintenance – Doing More with Less. ASCE.

Costello, S.B., Chapman, D.N., Rogers, C.D.F. & Metje, N. 2007. Underground asset location and condition assessment technologies. Tunnelling and Underground Space Technology, 22(2007): 524-542.

Daher, S. 2015. Defect-based Condition Assessment Model and Protocol of Sewer Pipelines. Opinnäytetyö. Concordia University Montreal, Quebec, Canada. Daniels, D. J. 2005. Ground Penetrating Radar. Wiley Online Library.

Davidson, J.M., Salah, M. & Horton, A.M. 2006. Is sanitary sewer rehabilitation really worth it? Collection Systems 2006. Infrastructure Stewardship: Partnering for a Sustainable Future

De Gueldre, G., Van Herzeele, F., Boonen, I., Thoeye, C. & Van De Steene, B. 2007. Hydroplan-EU : An integrated approach for sewer asset management. NO-VATECH'2007

Dent, S., Wright, L., Sathyanarayan, P., Matheson, R. & Ohlemutz, R. 2003. Identifying where rehabilitation is cost-effective in a sanitary sewer system to manage SSOs. Collection Systems Conference 2003: cMOM Go!

Derr, H.R. & Hubbard, P. 2009. In-service inspection of wastewater force mains. Pipelines 2009, Infrastructure's Hidden Assets. ASCE.

Derr, H.R. 2010. Research and development needs for the inspection of pressure pipelines. Pipelines 2010: Climbing New Peaks to Infrastructure Reliability – Renew, Rehab, and Reinvest. ASCE.

D. De Silva, P. Davis, L.S. Burn, P. Ferguson, D. Massie, J. Cull, M. Eiswirth & C. Heske. 2002. Condition Assessment of Cast Iron and Asbestos Cement Pipes by In-Pipe Probes and Selective Sampling for Estimation of Remaining Life. <u>www.re-</u> searchgate.net/publication/228822657

Dettmar, J. & Staufer, P. 2005. Modelling of flushing waves for optimizing cleaning operations. Water Science & Technology, 52(5): 233-240.

Deutsche Vereinigung für Wasserwirtschaf. 2006. DWA-M 149-2: Zustandserfassung und beurteilung von Entwässerungssystemen außerhalb von Gebäuden Teil 2: Kodiersystem für die optische Inspektion (Condition assessment and evaluation of drainage systems outside of buildings Part 2: Coding for visual inspection). Germany.

Dezham, P., Im, J. & Gipson, D. 2007. Establishing a CCTV inspection, assessment and improvement program for a large diameter collection system. Pipelines 2007, Advances and experiences with trenchless pipeline projects. ASCE.

Dinkelacker, A. 1992. Cleaning of sewers. Water Science & Technology, 25(8): 37-46. Dirksen J., Baars E., Langeveld J. & Clemens F. (2012). Analysis of fat, oil and grease deposits in sagging sanitary sewers. 9th International Conference on Urban Drainage Modelling, Belgrade, Serbia.

Dirksen, J., Clemens, F.H.L.R., Korving, H., Cherqui, F., Le Gauffre, P., Ertl, T., Plihal, H., Müller, K. & Snaterse, T.M. 2013. The consistency of visual sewer inspection data. Structure and Infrastructure Engineering, 9(3): 214-228.

Dirksen, J., Baars, E.J., Langeveld, J.G. & Clemens, F.H.L.R. 2014. Quality and use of sewer invert measurements. Structure and Infrastructure Engineering, 10(3): 297-304. Duran, O., Althoefer, K. & Seneviratne, L.D. 2003. Pipe inspection using a laser-based transducer and automated analysis techniques. IEEE/ASME Transactions on Mechatronics, 3, 401–409.

Duran, O., Althoefer, K. & Seneviratne, L.D. 2007. Automated pipe defect detection and categorization using camera/laserbased profiler and artificial neural network. IEEE Transactions on Automation Science and Engineering, 4, 118–126.

Dutt, L. 2003. Effective pipeline rehabilitation program for reducing inflow & infiltration. WEFTEC® 2003

Ékes, C., Neducza, B. & Henrich, G.R. 2011. Competing condition assessment using in-pipe GPR as Pipe Penetrating Radar. Pipelines 2011, A Sound Conduit for Sharing Solutions. ASCE.

Ékes, C. & Maier, J. 2012. Condition assessments using Pipe Penetratig Radar: the Metro Wastewater Reclamation District – Denver, CO. Harvard Gulch Interceptor Case Study. Pipelines 2012: Innovations in Design, Construction, Operations, and Maintenance – Doing More with Less. ASCE.

Elachachi, S., Breysse, D. & Vasconcelos, E. "Uncertainties, quality of information and efficiency in management of sewer assets." Presented at Joint International Conference on Computing and Decision Making in Civil and Building Engineering, Montréal, Canada.

EPA. 2010. Collection Systems. With excerpts from: Condition Assessment of Wastewater Collection Systems, EPA/600/R-09/049. U.S.EPA.

EPA. 2010. Report on condition assessment of wastewater systems (EPA/600/R-10/100). Cincinnati, OH: National Risk Management Research Laboratory, U.S. Environmental Protection Agency.

Farrelly, S.G. & Ferguson, P.H. 2012. A methodology for condition assessment of pressure water mains. Pipelines 2012: Innovations in Design, Construction, Operations, and Maintenance – Doing More with Less. ASCE.

Feeney, C.S., Thayer, S., Bonomo, M. & Martel, K. 2009. Condition Assessment of Wastewater Collection Systems. 2009. Condition+Assessment+of+Wastewater+Collection+Systems+-+USEPA+White+Paper+-+May2009.pdf

Fenner, R.A. 2000. Approaches to sewer maintenance: a review. Urban Water, 2: 343-356.

Felio, G., Canadian Construction Association, and Canadian Public Works Association. 2012. Canadian Infrastructure Report Card: Volume 1: 2012 Municipal Roads and Water Systems. Canadian Construction Association.

Feng, Z., Horoshenkov, V., Tareq, M. & Tait, S. 2012. An acoustic method for condition classification in live sewer networks. In Proceedings of the 18th world conference on Nondestructive Testing, 16–20 April 2012, Durban, South Africa.

Fleury, M.A. & Warner, J. 2007. Arizona's Largest Condition Assessment. Proceedings of WEF Collection Systems Specialty Conference, May 13-16, Portland, OR. Forss, A. (toim.). 2005. Vesihuollon verkostojen ylläpidon perusteet. Vesi- ja viemärilaitosyhdistyksen monistesarja Nro 17. Vesi- ja viemärilaitosyhdistys. 77 s.

Gallea A. & Vaccari A., "Hydroplan-EU: An innovative approach in asset management. The application in Imperia (Italy)", 7th International Conference on Hydroinformatics, Nice, France.

Galleher Jr., J.J., Holley, M. & Shenkiryk, M. 2009. Acoustic fiber optic monitoring, Ho it is changing the remaining service life of the water authority's pipelines. Pipelines 2009, Infrastructure's Hidden Assets. ASCE.

Gangl, G., Ertl, T., Kretschmer, F., Kainz, H. & Haberl. R. 2007. Development of a Guideline for Sewer Operation and Maintenance in Austria. Water Practice & Technology Vol 2 1 No 1

Giovanelli, M. & Maglionico, M. 2008. Identification of the optimal level of service for sewer networks by means of expert procedure. 11th International Conference on Urban Drainage, Edinburgh, Scotland, UK, 2008

Gokhale, S. & Graham, J.A. 2004. A new development in locating leaks in sanitary sewers. Tunnelling and Underground Space Technology, 19(2004): 85-96

Hafskjold, L.S., Kønig, A., Sægrov, S. & Schilling, W. 2003. Improved assessment of sewer pipe condition. <u>www.researchgate.net/publication/228825185</u>

Hahn, M.A., Palmer, R.N., Merrill, M.S. & Lukas, A.B. 2002. Expert system for prioritizing the inspection of sewers: knowledge base formulation and evaluation. Journal of Water Resources Planning and Management: 128(2): 121-129.

Hao, T., Rogers, C., Metje, N., Chapman, D., Muggleton, J., Foo, K., Wang, P., Pennock, S., Atkins, P. & Swingler, S. 2012. "Condition Assessment of the Buried Utility Service Infrastructure." Tunnelling and Underground Space Technology, 28, 331-344. He X., de los Reyes F., Leming M., Dean L., Lappi S. & Ducoste J. 2013. Mechanisms of Fat, Oil and Grease (FOG) deposit formation in sewer lines. Wat. Res. 47 (13) 4451-4459.

Higgins, M.S. & Paulson, P.O. 2006. Fiber optic sensors for acoustic monitoring of PCCP. Pipelines 2006, Service to the Owner: Proceedings of the Pipeline Division Specialty Conference. ASCE.

Hook, D.E., Volpe, R.L. & Chamness, C. 2006. Too much excitement under Highway 87. Pipelines: 2006: Service to the Owner: Proceedings of the Pipeline Division Specialty Conference. ASCE.

Huang, J., Griffin, N., Kalaria, P., Leung, E., Verceles, R. & Bhamrah, A. Looking at Pipe Failure CCTV Data History Is Not Straightforward. <u>Look-</u>

ing%20at%20pipe%20failure%20CCTV%20data%20history%20is%20not%20straightforward.pdf

Ibrahim, M., Cherqui, F., Le Gauffre, P. & Werey, C. 2007. Sewer asset management: from visual inspection survey to dysfunction indicators. Leading edge conference on strategic asset management 2007.

lyer, S., Sinha, S.K., Pedrick, M.K. & Tittmann, B.R. 2011. Evaluation of ultrasonic inspection and imaging systems for concrete pipes. Automation in Construction, 22(2012): 149-164

Jeyapalan, J.K. 2007. Making remaining life predictions for better asset management. Pipelines 2007, Advances and experiences with trenchless pipeline projects. ASCE. Jo, B.Y., Laven, K. & Jacob, B. 2010. Advances in CCTV technology for in-service water mains. Pipelines 2010: Climbing New Peaks to Infrastructure Reliability – Renew, Rehab, and Reinvest. ASCE.

Jones, C., Mergelas, B., Laven, K. & Bond, A. 2006. Pinpointing exfiltration in large diameter pressurized wastewater pipelines with the Sahara Tethered System. Pipelines 2006, Service to the Owner: Proceedings of the Pipeline Division Specialty Confrence. ASCE.

Kannala, J., Brandt, S.S. & Heikkilä, J. 2008. Measuring and modelling sewer pipes from video. Machine Vision and Applications (2008) 19:73–83

Karpf C. & Krebs P. 2003. Bilanzierung von Fremdwasser. Proceedings of the ATV-DVWK Landesgruppentagung Sachsen/Thüringen, Suhl, Germany, 20 May 2003, 29-44. (in German).

Khan, Z., Moselhi, O. & Zayed. T. 2009. Level of Service Based Methodology for Municipal Infrastructure Management World Academy of Science, Engineering and Technology International Journal of Computer, Electrical, Automation, Control and Information Engineering, 3(4).

Kienow, K.K. & Kienow, K.E. 2009. Most pipeline failures can be prevented by proper inspection. Pipelines 2009, Infrastructure's Hidden Assets. ASCE.

Kirkham, R., Kearney, P.D., Rogers, K.J. & Mashford, J. 2000. PIRAT: A system for quantitative sewer pipe assessment. International Journal of Robotics Research, 19, 1033–1053.

Kishawy, Gabbar. 2010. Review of pipeline integrity management practices. International Journal of Pressure Vessels and Piping, 87: 373-380

Kiuru, H. 2006. Vesihuoltoalan tulevaisuuden näkymät Suomessa. Tekniikka ja Kunta 4/2006, s. 3840.

Kley, G., Kropp, I., Schmidt, T. & Caradot, N. 2013. D 1.1 Review of available technologies and methodologies for sewer condition evaluation. Project acronym: SEMA. KompetenzZentrum Wasser Berlin. Veolia Water, Berlin, Germany.

Kley G. & Caradot, N. 2013. D 1.2 Review of sewer deterioration models. Project acronym: SEMA. KompetenzZentrum Wasser Berlin. Veolia Water, Berlin, Germany.

Kong, X., Nguyen, V. & Mascarenhas, R. 2012. Recent advances in pipe wall assessment technology. Pipelines 2011: A Sound Conduit for Sharing Solutions. ASCE.

Koo, Ariaratnam. 2006. Innovative method for assessment of underground sewer pipe condition. Automation in Construction, 15(2006): 479-488.

Kretschmer, F., Ertl, T. & Koch, F. 2008. Discharge Monitoring and Determination of Infiltration Water in Sewer Systems. 11th International Conference on Urban Drainage, Edinburgh, Scotland, UK, 2008

Kumar, S.S. 2017. Leveraging Big-Data and Deep Neural Networks for Evaluating the Condition of Water and Wastewater Pipelines. PowerPoint-presentation.

Kwak, I., Morris, A., Silver, D., Kratzer, E., Vandapel, N. & Thayer, S. 2007. LADARbased pipeline inspection and location. Pipelines 2007, Advances and experiences with trenchless pipeline projects. ASCE.

Laakso, T., Lampola, T. & Ahopelto, S. 2015. Putkikohtainen kriittisyysluokitus ja sen käyttö HSY:llä. Vesitalous. 56, 3, p. 21-23

Langeveld, J. & Clemens, F. 2016. Special issue on "Sewer asset management". Urban Water Journal, 13(1) 1-2.

Le Gauffre, P., Joannis, C., Vasconcelos, E., Breysse, D., Gibello, C., & Desmulliez, J. J. (2007). "Performance indicators and multicriteria decision support for sewer asset management." J. Infrastruct. Syst., 13(2), 105–114.

Lewis, P., Khaleghian, H. & Shan, Y. 2016. Development of a sustainable national sewer inventory. Procedia Engineering, 145(2016): 1410-1415.

Livingston, B., Boudjou, U. & Royer, R. 2012. Condition assessment of a ductile iron force main using guided wave technology. Case study Underwood Creek force main, Milwaukee Metropolitan Sewerage District. Pipelines 2012: Innovations in Design, Construction, Operations, and Maintenance – Doing More with Less. ASCE.

Loera, R. 2007. PCCP reliability management. Pipelines 2007: Advances and Experiences with Trenchless Pipeline Projects. ASCE.

Lorenzen, A., Ristenpart, E. & Pfuhl, W. 1996. Flush cleaning of sewers. Water Science & Technology, 33(9): 221-228.

Mak, G. 2011. Internal PCCP force main deterioration – analysis and rehabilitation. Pipelines 2011: A Sound Conduit for Sharing Solutions. ASCE.

Makar. 1999. Diagnostic techniques for sewer systems. J. Infrastruct. Syst., 1999, 5(2): 69-78

Malik, O., Pumphrey, N.D. & Roberts, F.L. 1996. Sanitary Sewers: State-of-the-Practice. Infrastructure Condition Assessment: Art, Science, and Practice, 297 – 306.

Malm A., Hortsmark A., Jansson E., Larsson G., Meyer A. & Uusijärvi J. 2011. Handbok i förnyelseplanering av VA-ledningar (Guideline for renewal planning of water and wastewater networks). Report nr 2011-12. Swedish Water & Wastewater Association. Stockholm.

Marlow, D., Heart, S., Burn, S., Urquhart, A., Gould, S., Anderson, M., Cook, S., Ambrose, M., Madin, B. & Fitzgerald, A. 2007. Condition Assessment Strategies and Protocols for Water and Wastewater Utility Assets. Water Environment Research Foundation (WERF): Alexandria, VA and IWA Publishing: London, United Kingdom.

Marshall, J. & Loera, R. 2009. WSSC reliability management. Pipelines 2009: Infrastructure's Hidden Assets. ASCE.

Martel, K., Tuccillo, M.E., Rowe, R., Feeney, C.S., Hogan, S., DeBlois, G., Thayer, S., Bannon, B., Ross, M. & Enfinger, K. 2010. Innovative Internal Camera Inspection and Data Management for Effective Condition Assessment of Collection Systems. USEPA Mattsson J. & Hedström A. 2012. Matavfallskvarnar – Långtidseffekter på ledningsnät (Food waste disposers – Long term impacts on sewer systems). Report nr 2012-11. Swedish Water & Wastewater Association. Stockholm.

Mattsson J., Hedström A. & Viklander M. 2014. Fat, oil and grease accumulation in sewer systems – a comprehensive survey of experiences of Scandinavian municipalities. Journal of environmental engineering, available online.

Mattsson, J., Hedström, A. & Viklander, M. 2014. Indicators for Blockages Caused by Changing Wastewater—How Well Does a Municipality Need to Know Its Sewer? 13th International Conference on Urban Drainage, Sarawak, Malaysia, 7-D12 September 2014

McDonald, S.E. & Zhao, J.Q. 2001. Condition Assessment and Rehabilitation of Large Sewers. Report No. NRCC-44696. Institute for Research in Construction, National Research Council Canada: Ottawa, Canada

Robert A. McKim & Sunil K. Sinha. 1999. Condition assessment of underground sewer pipes using a modified digital image processing paradigm. Trenchless Technol. Res., Vol. 14, No. 2, pp. 29-37, 1999

Medan, N., Ravai Nagy, S. & Banica, M. 2014. Measuring the impact forces within the cleaning nozzles sewage system. Applied Mechanics and Materials, 657: 564-568. Medan, N. & Ravai Nagy, S. 2015. Determining the equation of the impact forces produced by water jets used in sewer cleaning. Applied Mechanics and Materials, 809-810: 1579-1584.

Medan, N., Lobontiu, M. and Banica, M. 2017. Full factorial DOE to determine the influence of the process parameters in cleaning water jets used in sewer cleaning. MATEC Web of Conferences, 94; CoSME'16.

Miles, S.W., Styers, F.C. & Nesbit, C.M. 2007. Setting pipeline rehabilitation priorities to achieve "best" results – a case study using condition and criticality criteria. Pipelines 2007: Advances and Experiences with Trenchless Pipeline Projects. ASCE.

Mirats Tur, J.M. and Garthwaite, W. 2010. Robotic devices for water main in-pipe inspection: a survey. Journal of Field Robotics, 27(4): 491-508.

Møller Rokstad, M., Ugarelli, R.M. & Sægrov, S. 2016. Improving data collection strategies and infrastructure asset management tool utilization through cost benefit considerations. Urban Water Journal, 13(7): 710-726.

Moy, R., Coleman, G. & Wilmut, C. 2006. Field application of Sewer Electro-Scan in large pipe condition assessment. Pipelines 2006, Service to the Owner: Proceedings of the Pipeline Division Specialty Confrence. ASCE.

Müller, K. 2006. Strategien zur Zustandserfassung von Kanalisationen, Aachener Schriften zur Stadtentwässerung, 2006.

Müller. 2007. Strategies for Condition Assessment of Sewer Systems. Water Practice & Technology Vol 2 No 2.

Müller, K. & Fischer, B. 2007. Objective Condition Assessment of Sewer Systems. Konferenssijulkaisu. LESAM 2007 - 2nd Leading Edge Conference on Strategic Asset Management, Lisbon, Portugal, 17.-19.10.2007.

Najafi, M. & Gokhale, S. 2004. "Trenchless Technology: Pipeline and Utility Design, Construction, and Renewal" 3rd edition, McGraw-Hill

Najafi, M. & Osborn, L. 2007. (ARTIKKELIN NIMI, sivu 2) Pipelines 2007, Advances and experiences with trenchless pipeline projects. ASCE.

Nederlands Normalisatie-instituut. 2003. NEN-EN 13508-2: Toestand van de buitenriolering - Coderingssysteem bij visuele inspectie (Conditions of drain and sewer systems outside buildings - Part 2: Visual inspection coding system). the Netherlands Nelson, R., Rowe, R. & Varghese, V. 2010. Process for evaluating sanitary sewer pipe and manhole condition assessment data. Pipelines 2010: Climbing New Peaks to Infrastructure Reliability – Renew, Rehab, and Reinvest. ASCE. Olhoeft, G.R. 2000. Maximizing the information return from ground penetrating radar. Journal of Applied Geophysics, 43, 175–187.

Olthof, J., Brundage, C., Evans, J. & Mozcdlowsky, C. 2002. Improving Cleaning, CCTV, and Replacement of Sewer Collection Pipe Using Geographic Information Systems. WEFTEC 2002

Opila, M.C. & Attoh-Okine, N. 2011. Novel Approach in Pipe Condition Scoring. Journal Of Pipeline Systems Engineering And Practice. J. Pipeline Syst. Eng. Pract., 2011, 2(3): 82-90

Ortega, R. & Ross, A.D. 2012. Enhancing asset management priority ranking – a case study. Pipelines 2012: Innovations in Design, Construction, Operations, and Maintenance – Doing More with Less. ASCE.

Park, T. & Kim, H. 2013. A data warehouse-based decision support system for sewer infrastructure management. Automation in Construction, 20: 37-49.

Paulson, P. & Nguyen, V. 2010. Pipe wall evaluation using acoustic pulses. Pipelines 2010: Climbing New Peaks to Infrastructure Reliability – Renew, Rehab, and Reinvest. ASCE.

Plihal, H., Kretschmer, F., Schwarz, D. & Ertl, T. 2014. Innovative sewer inspection as a basis for an optimized condition-based maintenance strategy. Water Practice & Technology, 9(1).

PPIC. 2010. Pipe Diver: Condition assessment without shutting down pipelines. Pressure Pipe Inspection Company http://www.ppic. com/services/pipe_diver.shtml. Accessed August 25, 2010.

Psutka, A. & Kong, X. 2009. Unmanned RFTC inspection of large diameter pipe. Pipelines 2009, Infrastructure's Hidden Assets. ASCE.

Purtell, J. 2010. Mapping the underground infrastructure: leveraging gps technology to locate and identify problems. North American Society for Trenchless Technology (NASTT) No-Dig Show 2010, Chicago, Illinois May 2-7, 2010

Queensland Government. A. Guidelines for implementing total management planning. Asset Management – Overview. WWW: http://www.nrw.qld.gov.au/compliance/ wic/pdf/guidelines/tmp/2001_guidelines/overviews/asset_management.pdf. Australia. 25 s.

Queensland Government. B. Guidelines for implementing total management planning. Asset Management – Asset evaluation and renewal. WWW: http://www.nrw.qld. gov.au/compliance/wic/pdf/guidelines/tmp/2001_guidelines/implementation/asset_ 05.pdf. Australia. 27 s.

Rahman, S. & Vanier, D. 2004. An evaluation of condition assessment protocols for sewer management. Municipal Infrastructure Investment Planning (MIPP) Rep., National Research Council Canada, Ottawa, B-5123.6.

Rahman, S. & Vanier, D.J. 2004. Municipal Infrastructure Investment Planning. MIIP Report: An Evaluation of Condition Assessment Protocols for Sewer Management. Report No. B-5123.6, Institute for Research in Construction: Ottawa, Canada.

Rajani, B. & Kleiner, Y. 2004. Non-destructive inspection techniques to determine structural distress indicators in water mains. NRCC-47068, Evaluation and control of water loss in urban networks, 2004, Valencia, Spain, pp. 1-20.

Rokstad, Ugarelli. 2015. Evaluating the role of deterioration models for condition assessment of sewers.

Rome, E., Hertzberg, J., Kirchner, F., Licht, U. & Christaller, T. 1999. Towards autonomous sewer robots: the MAKRO project. Urban Water, 1: 57-70.

Roode, T.J., Rector, L. & Smith, M.P. 2009. Using GPS to improve data collection on the Prairie Waters pipeline. Pipelines 2009: Infrastructure's Hidden Assets. ASCE.

Rowe, R., Vani, K. & Kelly, B. 2004. Combining sewer failure consequences with condition assessment likelihood produces realistic prioritization ranking. Proceedings of the Water Environment Federation, WEFTEC 2004.

Sadiq, R., Kleiner, Y. & Rajani, B. 2007. Water quality failures in distribution networks—Risk analysis using fuzzy logic and evidential reasoning. Risk Anal., 27(5), 1381–1394.

Savic, D., Giustolisi, O., Berardi, L., Shepherd, W., Djordjevic, S. & Saul, A. 2006. Modelling sewer failure by evolutionary computing. Water Management 159 Issue WM. Simicevic, J. & Sterling, R. 2006. Cost effective rehabilitation of private sewer laterals. Collection Systems 2006 Infrastructure Stewardship: Partnering for a Sustainable Future

Sinha, S. & Knight, M. 2004. "Intelligent system for condition monitoring of underground pipes." Comput. Aided Civ. Infrastruct. Eng., 19(1), 42–53.

Stone, S. L., Dzuray, E. J., Meisegeier, D., Dahlborg, A. S. & Erickson, M. 2002. Decision-support tools for predicting the performance of water distribution and wastewater collection systems: US Environmental Protection Agency, Office of Research and Development.

Sinha, S.K. 2014. Development of an intelligent system for underground pipeline assessment, rehabilitation and management. <u>www.researchgate.net/publica-</u> tion/228963212

Siringi, D.O., Home, P.G. & Koehn, E. 2014. Cleaning methods for pipeline renewals. International Journal of Engineering and Technical Research, 2(9): 44-47.

Stanić, N., Langeveld, J. & Clemens, F. 2012. Identification of the information needs for sewer asset management by assessing failure mechanisms. 9th International Conference on Urban Drainage Modelling Belgrade 2012

Stein, D. 1999: Instandhaltung von Kanalisationen, Ernst & Sohn Verlag für Architektur und technische Wissenschaften GmbH, 3. Auflage, 1999

Swedish water & wastewater association. 2006. P93 - TV-inspection of sewer pipes (P93 - TV-inspektion av avloppsledningar), Swedish water & wastewater association Stockholm.

Teichgräber, B., Stemplewski, J., Althoff, H. & Elkmann, N. 2006. Remote controlled inspection device for large sewers. Water Practice & Technology, 2(4).

Thomson, J.C., Hayward, P., Hazelden, G. Morrison, R.S., Sangster, T., Williams, D.S. & Kopchynkski, R.K. 2004. An Examination of Innovative Methods used in the Inspection of Wastewater Systems. WERF: Alexandria, VA and IWA Publishing: London, United Kingdom.

Thomson, J.C. 2008. The Value of Inspection. Presented at: STREAMS Task Order 59 Condition Assessment of Collection Systems Technology Forum. Sept. 11-12, 2008. Edison, NJ

Tuccillo, M.E., Wilmut, C., Feeney, C., Martel, K., Selvakumar, A. 2011. Field Demonstration of Electro-Scan Defect Location Technology for Condition Assessment of Wastewater Collection Systems. Collection Systems 2011

U.S. Environmental Protection Agency. 1991. Handbook for Sewer System Infrastructure Analysis and Rehabilitation, EPA/625/6-91/030, Center for Environmental Research Information, Washington, D.C.

U.S. Environmental Protection Agency. 1975. Handbook for Sewer System Evaluation and Rehabilitation, EPA/430/9-75-021, Office of Water Program Operations, Washington, D.C.

US EPA. 2001. EPA takes action to protect the nation's beaches from health threats posed by raw sewage overflows. US EPA Headquarters Press Release, 1/5/2001. Available at internet address: <u>http://www.epa.gov/npdes/pubs/sso-pressrelease.htm</u>.

Vaattovaara, M. & Sipilä, O. 2005. Fyysisen käyttöomaisuuden hallinnan taustaselvitys. Teknologiakatsaus 170/2004. Tekes. Helsinki 2005. 68 s.

Vallabhaneni, S., Chan, C. & Selvakumar, A. 2014. Focused Field Investigations for Sewer Condition Assessment with EPA SSOAP Toolbox. North American Society for Trenchless Technology (NASTT) NASTT's 2014 No-Dig Show. Orlando, Florida April 13-17, 2014.

van der Steen, A.J., Dirksen, J. & Clemens, F.H.L.R. 2014. Visual sewer inspection: detail of coding system versus data quality?, Structure and Infrastructure Engineering, 10:11, 1385-1393, DOI: 10.1080/15732479.2013.816974

Van Herzeele F., Boonen I., Van Assel J., De Gueldre G. & Thoeye C. 2006. Hydroplan-EU knowledge management framework for urban water asset management. Proceedings of 7th International Conference on Hydroinformatics HIC 2006, Nice, France. Vanier, D.J. 2001. Why industry needs asset management tools. Journal of Computing in Civil Engineering, 15(1): 35-43.

van Riel, W., Langeveld, J.G., Herder, P.M. & Clemens, F.H.L.R. 2014. Intuition and information in decision-making for sewer asset management. Urban Water Journal, 11(6): 506-518.

van Riel, W., van Bueren, E., Langeveld, J., Herder, P. & Clemens, F. 2016. Decisionmaking for sewer asset management: theory and practice. Urban Water Journal, 13(1): 57-68.

Villalobos, J.L. & Perry, C. 2009. Asset management strategies for metallic municipal transmission pipelines. Pipelines 2009, Infrastructure's Hidden Assets. ASCE.

Villalobos, J. 2012. Condition assessment of 23 lift stations. Pipelines 2012: Innovations in Design, Construction, Operations, and Maintenance – Doing More with Less. ASCE.

Välisalo, T., Räikkönen, M. & Lehtinen, E. 2006. Asset Management vesihuollossa Kirjallisuustutkimus (TARKEMMAT VIITETIEDOT)

Välisalo, T., Riihimäki, M., Lehtinen, E. & Kupi, E. 2008. Vesihuoltolaitosten verkostoomaisuuden hallinta Toimintamallin kuvaus Total Management Planning -ohjeistuksen pohjalta. Tero Välisalo, Markku Riihimäki, Erkki Lehtinen & Eija Kupi. ISBN 978-951-38-7159-8 (URL: http://www.vtt.fi/publications/index.jsp) ISSN 1459-7683 (URL: http://www.vtt.fi/publications/index.jsp).

Välisalo, T., Hanski, J., Virolainen, K., Malm, T., Salmela, L., Pietilä, P., Heino, O., Oulasvirta, L., Luomanen, T., Riihimäki, M., Grönfors, T. & Teerimo, S. 2013. Vesihuoltoverkostojen kunnossapitopalvelujen riskienhallinta. Loppuraportti ISBN 978-951-38-7903-7 (URL: http://www.vtt.fi/publications/index.jsp) ISSN-L 2242-1211 ISSN 2242-122X (verkkojulkaisu) Vesihuoltoverkostojen kunnossapitopalvelujen riskienhallinta Loppuraportti.

Wagner, T.B. 2011. It's never easy... Development and implementation of a comprehensive force main condition assessment. Pipelines 2011, A Sound Conduit for Sharing Solutions. ASCE.

Waicelunas, A., Wittas, D. & Garaci, M. 2007. Using GIS for pipeline data management at the Palo Verde Nuclear Facility. Pipelines 2007, Advances and experiences with trenchless pipeline projects. ASCE.

Walter, C., Saenz, J., Elkmann, N., Althoff, H., Kutzner, S. & Stuerze, T. 2011. Design considerations of robotic system for cleaning and inspection of large-diameter sewers. Journal of Field Robotics, 29(1): 186-214.

Winkler, D., Haltmeier, M., Kleidorfer, M., Rauch, W. & Tscheikner-Gratl, F. 2018. Pipe failure modelling for water distribution networks using boosted decision trees. Structure and Infrastructure Engineering.

Wirahadikusumah, R., Abraham, D.M., Iseley, T. & Prasanth, R. K. (1998). Assessment technologies for sewer system rehabilitation. Automation in Construction, 7, 259–270. Worthington, W. & Homer, R. 2007. Risk management begins in the planning stage. Pipelines 2007, Advances and experiences with trenchless pipeline projects. ASCE.
Wright, L., Dent, S. & Ohlemutz, R. ESTIMATING THE CONDITION OF UNIN-SPECTED SEWER PIPELINES.

Wu, W., Liu, Z. & He, Y. 2015. Classification of defects with ensemble methods in the automated visual inspection of sewer pipes. Pattern Anal Applic, 18: 263-276.

Yang, J., 2004. Road crack condition performance modeling using recurrent Markov chains and artificial neural networks. Doctoral Dissertation. Department of Civil and Environmental Engineering, College of Engineering, University of South Florida Yang, M-D., Su, T-C., Wu, T-Y. & Huang, K-S. 2010. No-dig inspection technologies for underground pipelines. Journal of GeoEngineering, Vol. 5, No. 3, pp. 99-104, December 2010

Zhang, Y. & Yan, G. 2007. In-pipe inspection robot with active pipe-diameter adaptability and automatic tractive force adjusting. Mechanism and Machine Theory, 42: 1618-1631.

Zhao, J. 1998. "Trunk Sewers in Canada", Proceedings of APWA International Public Works Congress – Innovations in Urban Infrastructure, Las Vegas, Sept., Pg 75–89. Zhao, J.Q. & Rajani, B. 2002. Construction and Rehabilitation Costs for Buried Pipe with a Focus on Trenchless Technologies. IRC-RR-101. <u>http://irc.nrc-cnrc.gc.ca/ircpubs</u>

APPENDIX

Appendix 1..... CASI METHODS SUITABLE FOR GRAVITY COLLECTORS Appendix 2...... FORCE MAINS AND WATER MAINS, CASI METHODS